NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

 UMI^{*}

Enhancing problem-solving skills for childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders

Julie Côté

A Research Paper

In

The Department

Of

Creative Arts Therapies

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
For the Degree of Master of Arts at
Concordia University
Montreal, Québec, Canada

September, 2009

© Julie Côté, 2009



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-63068-6 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-63068-6

NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

Enhancing problem-solving skills for childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders

Julie Côté

The following theoretical research will present, based on a concise literature review, the outline for a new art therapy program intended for latency-aged children diagnosed with internalizing disorders with or without comorbid externalizing features. Grounded in a cognitive-behavioral model and informed by positive psychology, the proposed program will aim to strengthen resilience and increase problem-solving skills through short-term, solution-focused group interventions. The rationale for developing such a new art therapy program is based on literature suggesting that most existing treatment programs are devised primarily for either internalizing or externalizing disorders despite the well documented comorbidity of such childhood mental issues. Furthermore, literature supports the need to devise more age-appropriate interventions for latency-aged clients based on the recognition that many effective intervention programs fail when applied to pediatric populations as these programs may not be suited to meet the developmental needs and cognitive abilities of this young age group.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Words cannot express the immense gratitude I feel towards my husband for his unending patience and support. His kindness and trust have allowed me to reach the completion of such a long training program after many years of studying. Through difficult times, his honesty and sound advice have guided me along the way and helped me remain focused. His humor and advice have lead me through this program and kept me grounded (if not sane!), ready to meet the many challenges all trainees must face. We have made this journey together: thank you, and cheers to this new success!

I would also extend my appreciation to my thesis advisor, Mrs. Irene Gericke: your well crafted course, excellent reading selection, generosity as well as your capacity to communicate and share your professional experience have guided me throughout my entire practicum placement. Your good judgment, patience and humor have made thesis writing and editing a pleasant experience. Thank you for providing all your students with such an inspiring model of professional conduct.

I would also like to share this success with Mrs. Suzy Lister, our research professor. Your advice has been invaluable in the making of this theoretical research paper. Thank you for your meticulous presentations and your generosity in responding to your students' unending, angst filled questions!

I would also like to acknowledge the many staff members who have shared their experience and expertise during my two practicum experiences, namely the entire staff at the Jewish General's Early Childhood Disorder program as well as the staff at Maimonides Geriatric Center. Most importantly, I wish to express my gratitude towards my first year practicum supervisor, Mrs. Sondra Goldman for offering me a fundamental

glimpse into the profession of art therapist practicing in an interdisciplinary setting. Her professionalism and generosity have been fundamental in my training. Thank you for providing me with so many opportunities for success.

Finally, I wish to thank Mrs. Josée Leclerc for guiding us through fundamental readings in art therapy and exposing us to wondrous and fascinating psychodynamic literature. Vos présentations étaient exquises!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag
INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of Purpose	5
Primary Research Question	6
METHOLOGY	6
Interpretative framework	7
Data retrieval and inclusion criteria	7
Research phase and key words	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	11
Anxiety in adult populations	11
Childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders	13
Evidenced-based treatment interventions	16
Risk factors and treatment implications associated with childhood disorders	19
Positive psychology and resilience	21
Developmentally sensitive interventions for childhood disorders	24
Alternative age-appropriate interventions inspired by positive psychology	27
Art therapy for childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders	30
Literature review conclusion	33
ART THERAPY PROGRAM OUTLINE	33
Introduction	34
Program outline	34
a) Duration	34

	vii
b) Format	35
c) Group composition	36
d) Group structure	38
e) Integration of CBT interventions within an art therapy approach	41
PERSONAL CONSIDERATIONS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	45
REFERENCES	50
APPENDIX	71

ENHANCING PROBLEM-SOLVING SKILLS FOR CHILHOOD INTERNALIZING AND EXTERNALIZING DISORDERS

Introduction

Literature has shown that children referred to treatment programs on the basis of disruptive behaviors often present dual diagnoses for externalizing and internalizing disorders despite seemingly paradoxical symptoms. Programs aimed at addressing externalizing features such as oppositionality and impulsivity strive to reduce the frequency and intensity of disruptive displays in favor of more socially acceptable and age appropriate behaviors (Lambert, Wahler, Andrade, & Bickman, 2001; Weitmann, 2006; Webster-Stratton, Reid, & Hammond, 2001). While such intervention programs do provide successful outcomes which can be easily monitored through behavioral assessments, recent investigations have suggested that underlying issues may not be addressed (Boylan, Vaillancourt, Boyle, & Szatmari, 2007; Compton, Burns, Egger, & Robertson, 2002; Rozum, 2001; Weitmann). Indeed, while problematic behaviors may be outwardly modified through social skills training and reinforcement strategies, internalized problems such as anxiety and depression may linger, thus leaving children vulnerable to relapse and future mental health issues (Lambert et al.; Scott & Feeny, 2006; Weitmann). In light of these lingering issues, the current study seeks to investigate and devise age appropriate interventions intended for children presenting both internalizing and externalizing disorders, thus globally addressing such seemingly opposite manifestations of childhood mental health disorders.

Recent literature suggests an important connection between internalized and externalized disorders as numerous studies have revealed significant comorbidity

between such childhood mental health issues (Boylan et al., 2007; Garland & Garland, 2001; Lahey, Loeber, Burke, Rathouz, & McBurnett, 2002; Lambert et al., 2001; Maughan, Rowe, Messer, Goodman, & Meltzer, 2004; Mireault, Rooney, Kouwenhoven, & Hannan, 2008). Despite well documented studies pointing to the important overlap between symptoms stemming from Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD), Conduct Disorder (CD), Attention Deficit and Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) as well as mood disorders such as anxiety and depression, children admitted to pediatric treatment units provided through medical or specialized school programs are often primarily referred due to the presence of unmanageable behaviors as opposed to internalized distress (Eresund, 2007; Fossum, Mørch, Handegård, & Drugli, 2007; Prokoviev, 1998; Rozum, 2001). The inherent difficulty in assessing childhood internalizing disorders (Comer & Kendall, 2004; Grills & Ollendick, 2002) coupled with the fact that internalized distress may not be as visible or as troublesome as disruptive behaviors may partially explain why most treatment facilities focus on modifying behavior and supporting the acquisition of appropriate social skills, regardless of underlying issues. In light of the important comorbidity between internalizing and externalizing disorders, one may question the seemingly exclusive reliance on modification of behavior while anxiety and depressive symptoms remain unaddressed, particularly since recent studies suggest that anxiety disorders may in fact precede disruptive disorders (Boylan et al., 2007; Compton et al., 2002; Kashani, Deusner, & Reid, 1991; Leung & Fagan, 1991; Mireault et al., 2008; Lahey et al., 2002).

In regards to existing intervention programs, many authors (Compton et al, 2002; Kazdin, 2000; Erickson & Achilles, 2004; Kendall, Lerner, & Craighead, 1984; Lambert

et al., 2001) have revealed the relative paucity of specific strategies designed for younger clients as current programs have been drafted on studies conducted with adults and adolescents. While cognitive-behavioral therapies (CBT) have received significant attention due to empirical studies pointing to their effectiveness in adult populations (Hudson & Manassis, 2004), studies suggest less favorable outcomes in up to 40% of children having received CBT (Kendall, Hudson, Choudhury, Webb, & Pimentel, 2005; Ollendick, King, & Chorpita, 2006; Scott & Feeny, 2006). While CBT relies on identification and modification of complex thought processes considered to be at the core of maladjustment (Braswell and Kendall, 2001; Erickson & Achilles, 2004; Lock, 2004), several authors (Harter, 1990; Vasey, 1993) have questioned children's ability to pursue such sophisticated cognitive investigations, particularly when poor attentional capacities and oppositionality may further limit client collaboration. Numerous authors (Erickson & Achilles; Harter; Kendall, 1993; Toth, & Cicchetti, 1999; Vasey) have thus stated the importance of considering clients' developmental level in order to devise intervention programs compatible with young children's cognitive abilities. In fact, Lock recently questioned the "developmental appropriateness" of CBT treatments due to their reliance on mature language skills as well as pre-requisite capacity for insight.

In light of certain limitations associated with traditional adult inspired CBT intervention programs, recent studies investigating alternate treatment strategies specifically for pediatric populations have turned to the field of positive psychology and the *resilience framework* (Yates & Masten, 2004) in order to focus on promoting existing strengths as part of treatment goals (Feldman, 2008; Fitzpatrick & Stalikas, 2008; Flückiger & Holtforth, 2008; Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). By integrating

evidence-based practices adapted to pediatric clients with positive psychology,

Hannesdottir and Ollendick (2007) provide arguments supporting the development of
new treatment programs that merge developmentally sensitive CBT with interventions
grounded in positive psychology. Indeed, these authors recognize the curative powers
associated with positive emotions and as such consider the importance of "inducing"
positive emotions as part of CBT based therapeutic interventions in order to maximize
treatment outcomes and broaden clients' adaptive repertoire.

Literature therefore supports the creation of novel treatment interventions that bypass limitations associated with traditional CBT through the use of age-appropriate techniques that foster positive experiences. Several authors (Greenwood, 2002; Hannesdottir & Ollendick, 2007; Landreth, 1991) have therefore highlighted the importance of creating interventions based on games and playful activities that appeal to young clients on the basis of their developmental appropriateness as well as their capacity to provide positive experiences to clients. In such a context, art therapy seems an ideal vehicle for the promotion of children's growth and well being. In line with positive psychology and the significant benefits associated with positive experiences in the context of therapy, many authors (Prokoviev, 1998; Riley, 1999; Rubin, 1984) emphasize the intrinsic pleasure associated with art making and the meaningfulness of both the process as well as the actual artistic product which provides feelings of pride and accomplishment for clients. Furthermore, Rubin proposes that through the creative process, children may access greater awareness and insight, experience discharge of emotional tension as well as develop autonomy while achieving a sense of mastery and competence.

In order to broaden the scope of intervention programs designed for pediatric clients, the current theoretical study proposes to survey recent literature in order to develop the outline for an art therapy program designed for latency aged children referred to outpatient clinics. Grounded in cognitive-behavioral theory as well as in positive psychology, the proposed art therapy program will integrate recent treatment interventions delivered through a child friendly format designed to address both internalizing as well as externalizing childhood disorders. In line with the actual context of time-limited, solution-focused and evidence-based philosophy (Albano & Kendall, 2002; Lock, 2004), the creation of this new art therapy program should provide basic guidelines and general structure for a feasible new program.

Statement of Purpose

The current study intends to explore the rationale and purpose of creating a new art therapy program aimed at promoting resiliency through effective problem-solving skills acquisition for latency aged children presenting anxiety as well as comorbid disruptive disorders. Based on recent contributions to positive psychology, the main assumption guiding this study concerns the fundamental capacity of individuals to adapt to stressors by developing more effective coping skills. Following an in depth literature review that will present prominent theories related to internalizing and externalizing disorders, cognitive behavioral theory, resiliency and art therapy, the proposed study will provide arguments that support the use of art therapy as a valid and potentially effective treatment intervention for children attending outpatient clinics and/or specialized school programs. By reviewing recent treatment strategies, the study will merge promising interdisciplinary intervention techniques and provide the outline for an art therapy program informed by

positive psychology and CBT. Within the context of short-term treatment plans and evidenced-based practices, the format of the resulting art therapy program should be both appealing and credible to interdisciplinary professionals.

Primary Research Question

Based on an in depth literature review exploring current interdisciplinary treatment interventions for comorbid childhood disorders, what would be the essential features and global structure of an art therapy program aimed at increasing coping skills and resiliency in latency aged children presenting anxiety disorders with or without possible comorbid externalizing features?

Methodology

In order to develop a sound and potentially effective art therapy program based on the most widely accepted and evidenced-based models, this theoretical study will primarily consist of a thorough literature review which will present dominant theories as well as recent applications of existing interventions and programs. Data will thus exclusively consist of written documentation such as prominent seminal works that address key constructs under study as well as recently published articles that explore and describe treatment interventions and existing programs designed for children presenting internalizing and externalizing disorders. Based on a "conceptual funnel" (Marshall & Rossman, 2006), the following research will proceed through systematic enquiry moving from broader constructs such as anxiety and disruptive disorders in order to gradually narrow the search to concepts such as CBT, positive psychology and art therapy. By distilling relevant information and merging interdisciplinary concepts, this study aims to present a coherent argument that supports the proposed objective of the research, that is,

to determine the essential features of an art therapy program designed for latency aged children presenting dual diagnoses.

Interpretative framework

While this study recognizes the significant psychodynamic foundations of art therapy and the importance of uncovering conflicts in order to achieve equilibrium particularly in regards to anxiety disorders—the researcher nonetheless acknowledges the actual context of short-term, evidenced-based interventions. In line with the prevailing empirically-driven ideology, data collected for the present study will primarily gravitate towards cognitive behavioral models as opposed to psychoanalytical theories due to the well documented effectiveness of treatment interventions derived from CBT, particularly in the case of internalizing and externalizing disorders (Comer, Kendall, Franklin, Hudson & Pimentel, 2004; Compton et al., 2004; Hannesdottir & Ollendick, 2007). By consulting works authored by theoretical founders of CBT, the current study will be grounded in fundamental postulates from which more recent studies have been developed, such as investigations surrounding positive psychology as well as resiliency. The final product, that is the outline for a new art therapy program, will emerge based on findings obtained through systematic inquiry linking interdisciplinary concepts and interventions strategies. In the hopes of demonstrating the rationale behind a new shortterm art therapy program, the study aims to reduce the narrowing gap between the medical model and the field of creative arts therapies.

Data retrieval and inclusion criteria

Since the study's main components are grounded in psychology, data was essentially retrieved through search engines such as *PsycINFO*, *Sage full text collection*

as well as Dissertation Abstracts International. These databanks as well as Concordia University's electronic library catalog granted access to seminal works, peer reviewed journals, electronic versions of recently published articles as well as many specialized clinical psychology journals. Furthermore, a review of reference lists included in salient articles provided additional valuable links therefore expanding the initial pool of reliable sources. To insure validity and reliability, inclusion criteria was established beforehand in order to select relevant and trustworthy articles. For instance, peer reviewed journals, evidenced-based studies as well as recent dissertations and theses closely related to the current study were included in this study. Save for seminal works by founding authors such as Beck (1985) and Barlow (1988), articles included in this research were selected based on publication date in order to provide only the most recent sources; for instance, whenever possible, articles published between 1995 to 2008 were prioritized, with the bulk of literature included in this paper having been published after 2000. In regards to literature related to art therapy, chosen sources included recently published master's thesis from graduate students as well as articles published in well established journals such as The Arts in Psychotherapy; Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association as well as publications found in The Canadian Art Therapy Association Journal. Finally, additional sources included in this research were obtained following a review of play therapy techniques as described by Kaduson and Schaefer (2001) and Sweeney and Homeyer (1999), as well as by counselling strategies and specific interventions adapted to younger clients as suggested by Geldard and Geldard (1997). Research phase and key words

The initial phase of research consisted of gathering general information regarding anxiety and more specifically, pediatric anxiety. Subject headings guiding this first phase included: anxiety; internalized disorders; childhood disorders; childhood anxiety disorders. In order to define and describe the construct of anxiety in the context of the most recent and most widely accepted viewpoint, this study focused on a cognitive behavioral model as defined by authors such as Barlow (1988) and Beck (1985). This study also relied on the work of authors such as Beidel & Turner (2005) who recently investigated anxiety and its manifestations specifically in pediatric populations. Based on substantial evidence regarding the overlap between childhood anxiety disorders and disruptive disorders, topics under study soon expanded in order to present research surrounding comorbidity between internalizing and externalizing childhood disorders. Therefore, key words entered in search engines also included: disruptive disorders; externalizing disorders; comorbid childhood disorders; conduct disorders; oppositional defiant disorder.

The second phase of research consisted of investigating existing treatment interventions. By consulting general works such as the *Handbook of mental health interventions in children and adolescents* (Steiner, 2004), numerous references were obtained which further guided the search for relevant articles. Literature supporting this stage of investigation was selected according to date of publication with a particular emphasis on evidence-based studies. Due to the overwhelming evidence pointing to the efficacy of CBT interventions, most articles presented in the following literature review therefore stem from a cognitive behavioral perspective. Key words guiding specific

interventions therefore included: cognitive-behavioral therapy; cognitive reconstruction; behavioral interventions; dysfunctional cognitions; maladaptive coping skills.

While most studies exploring the effectiveness of treatment interventions for internalized disorders such as anxiety and depression have been conducted based on adult populations, few investigations have been conducted with latency aged clients. In light of the apparent scarcity of documented intervention programs aimed at children presenting internalized and externalized disorders, alternative treatment interventions adapted to meet the needs of this study's target population have been investigated in the third phase of this research, expanding the research's frame in order to include constructs such as positive psychology as well as resiliency. The third phase of research therefore consisted of a review of age appropriate interventions adapted to meet the capacities and needs of children aged between six and twelve. Articles describing programs intended for younger clients thus included numerous disciplines extending beyond the traditional CBT format. The following literature review thus includes interventions grounded in positive psychology and the study of mechanisms associated with resilience. Key words guiding this research thus expanded to include terms such as: resilience; individual protective factors; coping skills; problem solving skills; problem-focused psychotherapy; activation-resource.

The last phase of research consisted of establishing parallels between previous intervention programs and art therapy with a particular emphasis on group settings. By surveying literature describing the therapeutic value of art-based interventions specifically for children and drawing connections with psychotherapeutic techniques such as promoting coping skills and age appropriate CBT, the current study yielded

information from which the outline for a new art therapy program has emerged. By searching through art therapy journals, through handbooks intended for art therapists (Landgarten, 1981; Ross, 1997; Rubin, 1984, 2001; Skaife & Huet, 1998), as well as through recent Master's Theses related to the current study (Dow, 2008; Lachance, 2002; Perkins, 2007), the available literature provided the researcher with vital information allowing for the creation of a new art therapy program. Key words guiding the search for published articles included: creative arts therapies; resilience and art therapy; art therapy with children; group art therapy; disruptive disorders and art therapy. Key sources were obtained from a careful review of particularly important articles' reference lists. Finally, in order to design interventions strategies adapted to the developmental level and language skills of younger children, alternative approaches such as play therapy were investigated due to their reliance on non-verbal exchanges. Articles and handbooks presenting play therapy techniques were therefore consulted in order to add to the understanding of effective strategies designed to bypass verbal and cognitive limitations observed in young children.

Literature review

Anxiety in adult populations

Anxiety has long been considered a motivational driving force with authors emphasizing its evolutionary and highly adaptive behavioral response system that enables organisms to cope with threats and danger (Barlow, Chorpita, & Turovsky, 1996; Cannon, 1929; Öhman, 1996). Unfortunately, in the case of anxiety disorders, this response system can become inappropriately or chronically triggered and may thus constitute a maladaptive coping mechanism. Most recent theories relating to the construct

of anxiety have relied on a "tripartite model" (Barlow, 2002; Clark & Watson, 1991; Lang, 1979) which considers the physiological, behavioral and subjective components associated with anxiety. According to Beck (1985), pathological anxiety constitutes a "system malfunction" that can be described as an aversive and ineffective response to threats accompanied by physiological, behavioral, cognitive, and affective modifications. On a subjective level, Barlow (1988) described pathological anxiety as a highly distressing affective experience that is accompanied by a sense of dread and feelings of vulnerability and helplessness.

Broadly defined, anxiety disorders fall into the category of internalized disorders which, considered by some to stem from *overcontrolled* behaviors (Achenbach, 1991), include "problems with the self, such as anxiety, depression, somatic complaints with or without medical cause, and withdrawal from social contact" (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001, p.93). Among specific disorders listed under the general heading of anxiety disorders, the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual* (DSM-IV-TR; American Psychiatric Association, 2000) contains items such as: *Generalized Anxiety Disorder* (GAD); *Separation Anxiety Disorder* (SAD); *Panic Attack* (PA); *Social Phobias* (SP) as well as *Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder* (OCD). Among the various subtypes of internalizing disorders, literature has identified high rates of *homotypic* comorbidity, meaning that individuals diagnosed with one form of anxiety disorder are more likely to present symptoms associated with disorders belonging to similar diagnostic groups, including depression which is listed under the heading of "mood disorders" in the DSM-IV (Boylan et al., 2007). Furthermore, Morrison (1995) states that anxiety has been found to be a

symptom associated with nearly all mental health disorders, thus pointing to high comorbidity with a wide spectrum of illnesses.

Anxiety disorders, considered to be the most common of all mental health illnesses with a lifetime prevalence rate of 29%, affect all age groups ranging from infant to geriatric populations (Anderson, Williams, McGee, & Silva, 1987; Andrews, Henderson, & Hall, 2001; Bienvenu & Ginsburg, 2007; Wittchen & Jacobi, 2005). Despite studies revealing anxiety disorders' early onset as well as their potential chronicity (Keller, Lavori, Wunder, Beardsley, & Schwartz, 1992; Lepine, 2002), most investigations have focused on adult populations. Numerous authors (Compton et al., 2002; Kadzin, 2000; Lahey et al., 2002) have commented on the relative paucity of specific empirical research conducted with pediatric populations as well as pointing out that "the content and treatment manuals for anxious youth have typically been developed, top-down, from adult treatments" therefore suggesting that actual treatment interventions may not be adapted to younger populations (Hudson & Manassis, 2004, p.2). Several factors thus point to the importance of pursuing further research in childhood anxiety disorders, namely recent prevalence rates estimated between 8% and 27% (Costello, Egger, & Angold, 2005) as well as high comorbidity with externalizing disorders, not to mention the documented chronic evolution of untreated anxiety (Albano & Kendall, 2002; Keller et al.) and its association with adult psychopathology (Compton et al., 2002; Fossum et al., 2007; Krueger, 1999; Lambert et al., 2001).

Childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders

Literature emphasizes similarities between adult and childhood symptoms of anxiety, suggesting that despite developmental differences, the physiological, behavioral,

cognitive and affective manifestations may be comparable. Indeed, Hannesdottir and Ollendick (2007) list the following symptoms in children presenting a diagnosis of anxiety disorder: "intrusive and catastrophic thoughts, uncontrollable worry, avoidance behavior, and increased activation of the sympathetic nervous system (e.g., increased heart rate, sweating, shortness of breath)" (p.280). Although investigations reveal similar physiological patterns in both children and adults (Beidel & Turner, 2005), some differences have been noted in other dimensions. For instance, behavioral responses to anxiety are essentially oriented towards avoidance of aversive situations or objects in most individuals (American Psychiatric Association, 1994), yet children apparently manifest their anxiety through specific age related behaviors such as somatic complaints, reassurance-seeking, clinging, tantrums as well as oppositional behavior (Beidel & Turner).

The association between anxiety and oppositionality has been well documented in literature (Hudson, Krain, & Kendall, 2001) with authors emphasizing anxious children's tendency to manifest internal distress through "severe oppositional avoidance" (Mireault et al., 2008, p.520). Indeed, Garland and Garland (2001) refer to "the prominence of oppositionality as a clinical feature of children suffering from anxiety" (p.956).

Furthermore, many studies (Boylan et al., 2007; Lahey et al., 2002; Lambert et al., 2001; Lavigne et al., 2008; Weitmann, 2006) suggest that childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders may be intrinsically woven, with ODD being considered on the one hand a "prodrome for evolving internalizing disorders" (Boylan et al., p.485), or on the other, a "cover" for internalizing problems (p.492).

According to Erickson and Achilles (2004) externalizing disorders- or undercontrolled behaviors (Achenbach, 1991) – refer to aggression, anger and general disorders of conduct such as ODD, ADHD, as well as CD and delinquency. Such manifestations of disruptive behaviors include lying, aggression towards people and animals, robbery and property destruction (American Psychiatric Association, 2000). According to Weitmann (2006), ODD symptoms also include more benign and more frequently observed behaviors such as arguing, defying authority, vindictiveness as well as refusal to acknowledge responsibility for one's actions and blaming others. Despite the outward manifestations of disruptive disorders and their seemingly distinct features, authors have recently investigated the underlying mechanisms of such disturbances thus bridging the gap between externalizing and externalizing disorders. For instance, a common feature associated with both disorders has been referred to as negative affectivity, that is, a cognitive predisposition manifested through irritability, tantrums as well as oppositionality (Boylan et al., 2007). As stated in the DSM-IV (American Psychiatric Association, 1994), ODD's main characteristics include "negativistic, defiant, disobedient, and hostile behavior towards authority figures" (p.91). Indeed, Boylan et al. suggest that "the symptom of irritability is a core item in ODD and often is a quality of depressed mood in major depression and is a descriptor for the subjective experience of generalized anxiety disorder" (p.491).

In an attempt to clarify the relationship between internalizing and externalizing disorders, several authors (Lahey et al., 2002; Lambert et al., 2001) have thus speculated that common risk factors such as negative mood and negative affectivity may predispose individuals to future mental issues when coupled with environmental and genetic risk

factors. Indeed, based on Weiss, Süsser and Catron's (1998) "Common feature" model, Lambert et al. have questioned whether specific childhood mental health issues as seemingly distinct as internalized versus externalized disorders may in fact reflect a "constellation of problems, some of which reflect severe neuroticism" (p 110). The focus on childhood neuroticism has indeed been explored by numerous other authors (Eisenberg et al., 1996; Goodyer, Ashby, Altham, Vize, & Cooper, 1993; Henry, Moffitt, Robins, Earls, & Silva, 1993; Rende, 1993; White, Moffitt, Robins, Earls, & Silva, 1990) who have linked this personality trait to depression, anxiety as well as conduct problems. Understanding the common underlying mechanisms for both internalizing and externalizing disorders appears to be an essential component in order to design and implement appropriate treatment interventions which may be affective for children presenting a wide spectrum of symptoms.

Evidenced-based treatment interventions

Literature exploring the effects and benefits of various psychotherapeutic interventions has provided significant leads regarding the effectiveness of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) particularly in regards to internalizing and externalizing disorders (Albano & Kendall, 2002; Compton et al., 2002; Erickson & Achilles, 2004; Hannesdottir & Ollendick, 2007). Although most empirically driven studies have been conducted with adults (Hudson & Manassis, 2004), recent studies have suggested the efficacy of CBT for younger individuals pointing to the "promising" nature of such interventions (Comer et al., 2004; Compton et al., 2002; Kendall, 2000; Scott & Feeny, 2006).

Treatment strategies derived from CBT models are based on the assumption that dysfunctional thought processes constitute important risk factors for the development of mental health issues (Beck, 1985; Beck, 1986; Erickson & Achilles, 2004; Lock, 2004). For instance, authors (Beck & Beck, 1995; Ellis, 1994) have identified cognitive and attentional biases, hypervigilance to threat, catastrophic ideation, intolerance to uncertainty, and negative affectivity as part of these dysfunctional processes and personality traits. According to Braswell and Kendall (2001), CBT therefore attempts to modify maladaptive thought processes through interventions such as "problem-solving, cognitive restructuring, self-regulation, affective education, relaxation techniques, modeling, role playing and behavioral contingencies" (Locke, 2004, p.532). Compton et al. (2002) specify that the use of progressive exposure to feared objects is also necessary in order to counteract the avoidance response typically observed in anxiety disorders such as specific phobias. Central to CBT interventions, cognitive restructuring (CR) involves identification of automatic thought processes, systematic reevaluation of anticipated events as well as questioning and confronting negative thoughts. CR therefore requires significant capacities for self-observation, insight, as well as access to abstract thought processes – processes often referred to as metacognition.

While CBT's reliance on CR may prove effective with adults, younger clients operating on a concrete operations level may lack the necessary maturation to pursue such cognitive investigations (Harter, 1990; Vasey, 1993). Indeed, literature suggests that children tend to not only avoid unpleasant situations and thoughts (Vasey & McLeod, 2001), but that they may also be unable to identify "the distorted or catastrophic cognitions associated with their fears and anxieties "(Grills-Taquechel & Ollendick,

2007, p.197). Such observations have also been noted by Mireault et al. (2008) as well as by Bernard (1990); in fact, in a review of rational-emotive therapy with children and adolescents, Bernard cautioned that "disputation of irrational beliefs"— a common strategy used in CBT intervention— may only be accessible to "certain bright and older students" particularly those above twelve or thirteen years of age (p.297). Furthermore, Ehrenreich and Gross (2002) admonish that although CBT is based on the assumption that adult mental health issues are primarily related to dysfunctional thought processes, the processes operating in the case of childhood disorders may differ, therefore requiring different treatment strategies.

Several authors (Erickson & Achilles, 2004; Toth, & Cicchetti, 1999) have thus highlighted the importance of considering cognitive developmental stages in relation to childhood disorders due to the fundamental qualitative differences that occur in thought processes throughout normal intellectual development. Indeed, Kendall (1993) cautioned that differential attention must be given to cognitive techniques—such as cognitive restructuring—depending on the client's developmental level. Similarly, Toth and Cicchetti emphasize the importance of evaluating the child's reasoning abilities, self-understanding as well as language skills in order to tailor interventions based on the client's developmental level.

When investigating the "developmental appropriateness" of treatments, Lock (2004) cautioned that latency aged clients may not benefit from conventional CBT due to its reliance on "language, insight, motivation, and the ability to apply what is learned in therapy to future situations or problems" (p.488). Such statements suggest that treatment interventions centered exclusively on verbal exchanges and cognitive processes may not

be adapted to the capacities of younger clients, therefore pointing to the usefulness of developing more age-appropriate treatment interventions for this population. As stated by Lock, younger patients may fare better with treatment modalities that are "less dependent on psychological insight and awareness" (p.494).

In this context, alternative treatment programs seem warranted, particularly since studies reveal that CBT may not provide positive outcomes to all children. Indeed, researchers (Kendall et al., 2005; Ollendick et al., 2006; Scott & Feeny, 2006) have identified that up to 40% of children having received twenty sessions of CBT still met diagnostic criteria for anxiety disorders. In regards to the criticism attached to CBT interventions with young populations, Albano and Kendall (2002) have indeed commented that results pointing to the effectiveness of CBT with children should be interpreted with caution due to methodological procedures which may skew results. Indeed, upon consideration of certain statistical interpretations, Albano and Kendall comment that by "using intent-to-treat analyses, the response rate dropped to 46 and 50%, respectively, indicating that some children continue to have anxiety symptomatology" (p.132). These findings suggest the importance of developing alternative or at least complementary interventions when dealing with childhood anxiety disorders, especially in the very young.

Risk factors and treatment implications associated with childhood disorders

As in the case of most illnesses, anxiety disorders have been associated with numerous risk factors yet no single causal agent has been so clearly identified as to warrant a specific and exclusive treatment. Rather, in regards to etiological factors, authors have proposed a complex interaction between genetic predispositions, environmental factors as well as cognitive processes and personality profile (Barlow, 2000; Bienvenu & Ginsburg, 2007; Eisenberg et al., 1996; Manassis et al., 2004; Goodyer et al., 1993; Rende, 1993). Genetic vulnerabilities have been hypothesized based on evidence suggesting a higher prevalence rate for mental health issues between family members, particularly between parents and their children. For instance, studies have revealed that in children presenting a diagnosis for either anxiety or depression, parents were also more likely to present similar diagnoses (Beidel & Turner, 1997; Ginsburg, 2004; Martin, Cabrol, Bouvard, Lepine, & Mouren-Simeoni, 1999). This trend has also been observed in the case of externalizing disorders, particularly with ADHD (Schachar & Wachsmuth, 1990; Stevenson et al., 2005).

In regards to environmental factors contributing to the development of childhood anxiety disorders, authors (Hauck, 1967; Manassis et al., 2004; Ollendick, King & Muris, 2002) have pointed to insecure attachment to the main caregiver, overprotective parenting, parental modeling of anxious or phobic behavior as well as traumatic experiences. Many of these components have also been associated with comorbid disruptive disorders where harsh parental practices as well as maternal hostility have been identified as aggravating factors (Boylan et al., 2007; Kadzin, 1996; Stormshak, Bierman, McMahon, & Lengua, 2000).

While factors such as physiological reactivity or genetic predispositions may not be easily modified, interventions may target variables such as parental skills and deficient environments. Many programs have indeed been created in order to assist parents in developing more appropriate skills in order to manage their children's disruptive behavior (Lavigne et al., 2008; Webster-Stratton, 1997; Webster-Stratton et al., 2001) as

well as programs intended for parents of anxious children (Rapee, 2002; Rapee, Kennedy, Ingram, Edwards, & Sweeney, 2005; Wood, Piacentini, Southam-Gerow, Chu, & Sigman, 2006). While research investigating the efficacy of disruptive disorder treatment programs involving parents suggest good outcomes (Lavigne et al.), studies reveal that many parents typically do not maintain their involvement in such programs and tend to participate in as little as five sessions (Armbruster & Kadzin, 1994; Kadzin & Wassel, 1998), therefore compromising the rapeutic goals. In order to bypass lack of parental involvement and provide direct psychotherapy to latency aged clients who may not respond well to traditional CBT, therapists could follow an alternate course and focus on promoting inherent strengths as well as supporting the acquisition of more adaptive problem solving skills. As suggested by Manassis et al. (2004), intervention strategies aimed at buttressing individuals' capacity to deal with risk factors could prove beneficial not only in terms of symptom reduction but also in terms of preventing the well documented chronic evolution associated with internalized disorders (Albano & Kendall, 2002; Keller et al., 1992) as well as with ADHD (Barkley, 1990). Manassis et al. thus state that "familiarity with underlying risk factors and protective factors may guide the provision of additional interventions, thus ameliorating morbidity and improving prognosis for the anxious child" (p.10).

Positive psychology and resilience

Summarizing Seligman (2002) and Csikszentmihalyi (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000), Yates & Masten (2004) propose that "the study of positive psychology encourages a shift in emphasis from a preoccupation with the reparation of defect to the building of defense, from a focus on disease and deficit to the strength and

virtue of human development" (p.526). As opposed to traditional "disease models" where emphasis is placed on symptoms and deficiencies—as in problem-focused therapies such as CBT—recent theories stemming from the emerging field of positive psychology have revealed the importance of focusing on the client's strengths, thus suggesting novel therapeutic approaches. By focusing on positive attributes and promoting strengths that allow individuals to thrive and flourish (Fitzpatrick & Stalikas, 2008; Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi), clinicians could better equip clients with adaptive tools thus limiting the impact of individual and environmental risk factors.

In a review of "Positive development across the life span", Yates and Masten (2004) briefly describe the resilience framework as intricately associated with the study of *competence* as well as with the concept of risk factors. By summarizing observations made by Waters and Sroufe (1983), the authors situate competence within a developmental perspective and as such propose that "competence is conceptualized as the adaptive use of resources, both within and outside the organism, to negotiate age-salient developmental challenges and achieve positive outcomes" (p.523). Throughout their review, Yates and Masten highlight the fundamental aspects associated with resilience, that is, competence promotion as well as prevention. Due to their focus on positive influences and adaptive functioning, resilience and positive psychology are therefore intrinsically related.

More specifically, resilience designates the capacity to successfully cope with adversity all the while maintaining positive self-esteem, sense of personal mastery and control over internal and external events in order to maintain adaptive functioning (Poulsen, 1993). Through research investigating resilient individuals, many

environmental as well as individual characteristics have been identified as protective factors, that is, elements that shield against potential adverse effects from either biological, psychological or environmental determinants (Manassis et al., 2004; Spence, Rapee, McDonald & Ingram, 2001). For instance, the first category concerns protective environmental factors such as secure attachment, adequate parental capacities as well as the availability and quality of social support; the second concerns individual attributes such as effective coping skills, sense of mastery over events as well as high self-esteem, to name but a few characteristics (Poulsen). Haglund, Nestadt, Cooper, Southwick and Charney (2007) have also identified qualities and personality traits such as positive affect, sense of humor, active coping style, as well as cognitive flexibility. Numerous authors (Manassis et al., 2004; Spence et al.) have commented on the beneficial effects of protective factors and their association with reduced likelihood of developing mental illnesses.

In regards to treatment interventions that stem from a resilience framework,

Flückiger and Holtforth (2008) have commented on the importance of emphasizing

clients' strengths in order to promote positive therapeutic outcomes and achieve well
being. These authors suggest that through resource-activating interventions, "therapists

actively reinforce patients' positive expectations as well as their individual abilities and

use them as a catalyst for therapeutic change" (p.877). Adopting a similar viewpoint

based on a brief review of major twentieth century psychotherapeutic strategies,

Fitzpatrick and Stalikas (2008) propose that all psychotherapeutic interventions rely on a

common factor they refer to as *broadening*. Accordingly, they claim that "contemplating

new ideas, developing alternative solutions to problems, reinterpreting situations,

deepening experience, changing behaviors, and initiating new courses of action" (p.143) constitute a broadening of one's repertoire and promote more flexible and adaptive functioning. Such emphasis on positive adaptation and the acquisition of more effective coping skills— as proposed by *activation-resource* and broadening theories— appears better suited to meet the needs and capacities of latency aged children lacking the cognitive sophistication required for traditional CBT. Indeed, in regards to new treatment programs designed for children presenting anxiety disorders, Hannesdottir and Ollendick (2007) support the implementation of interventions that provide "pleasant activities because they will lead to an upward spiral of positive thoughts and feelings" (p.286).

Recent literature has pointed to the importance of considering emotional states in children in order to provide effective treatment interventions (Bernard, 1990; Fitzpatrick & Stalikas, 2008; Hannesdottir & Ollendick, 2007). In effect, studies reveal that children experiencing intense negative emotions may not benefit from psychotherapeutic strategies due to their inability to attend to novel information (Erickson & Achilles, 2004; Hannesdottir & Ollendick). As previously stated, in children presenting both internalizing and externalizing disorders, negative affectivity and attentional biases to negative events have been considered important risk factors for the development of mental health issues (Boylan et al., 2007; Lambert et al., 2001). For instance, studies reveal that children presenting internalized disorders tend to experience fewer positive emotions, are hypervigilant to negative events and situations, as well as display compromised ability to regulate their emotions due to emotional dysregulation (Hannesdottir & Ollendick; Southam-Gerow & Kendall, 2000; Suveg & Zeman, 2004). More specifically, emotional

dysregulation has been associated with impaired psychological processes such as reduced attention as well as ineffective problem solving skills (Eisenberg et al., 2001; Hannesdottir & Ollendick). In the case of children with anxiety disorders, such impairments have been associated with avoidant strategies and intense emotional arousal (Mash & Wolfe, 2002), as well as with maladaptive coping strategies (Suveg & Zeman).

While negative emotions have been associated with "cognitive overload", therefore limiting the individual's capacity to envision alternative solutions to problems due to cognitive rigidity (Fredrickson & Branigan, 2005), positive emotions have been associated with increased problem solving and positive outcomes. In line with the previously presented broadening theory, Hannesdottir & Ollendick (2007) propose that "positive emotions broaden people's repertoires and allow them to discover novel lines of thought or action by enhancing flexibility and creativity" (p.286). In regards to promising treatment programs designed for children presenting anxious and disruptive disorders, several authors (Fredrickson & Levenson, 1998; Hannesdottir & Ollendick) have therefore emphasized the importance of providing interventions that foster positive emotions since "complex cognitive processes such as risk assessment and creative problem solving are influenced by positive affect" (Fitzpatrick & Stalikas, 2008, p.144). Literature therefore lends support to the creation of new programs merging evidencedbased CBT with positive psychology. As stated by Hannesdottir & Ollendick, "if positive emotions can in fact 'repair' the effects of negative emotions and speed up recovery, as suggested by Fredrickson and her colleagues, these effects are highly relevant for CBT programs" (p.286).

By combining different approaches and merging the strengths of various theoretical models, alternative treatment programs could rely on age-appropriate CBT techniques while focusing on resilience and promoting existing resources- namely problem solving skills- in order to broaden clients' adaptive repertoire. Several programs have indeed been developed in order to increase coping and problem solving skills as part of treatment plans targeting anxiety disorders in pediatric populations. For instance, Kendall (1990) developed the "Coping Cat programme" which provides an educational component, cognitive restructuring, graduated exposure to aversive situations as well as modeling of appropriate behavior. Such a program has been initially delivered through individual sessions and has since been adapted to group settings. In a similar fashion, Bienvenu and Ginsburg (2007) discussed the need to implement and validate the "Coping and Promoting Strength Programme" (CAPS), a "theoretically-driven preventive intervention designed to change a set of modifiable risk and protective factors" associated with childhood anxiety disorders (p.651). The main therapeutic elements included in the program consisted of modifying factors such as inappropriate parental skills as well as addressing individual factors such as the child's maladaptive cognitions, poor coping and problem-solving skills. In 2009, Ginsburg presented results from the actual validation study of the CAPS suggesting positive outcomes for this preventive program based on "increasing children's strength and resilience by teaching specific skills (e.g., problem solving)" (p.581). Treatment interventions for anxiety disorders may thus focus on increasing children's resources in order to allow them to manage fears and progressively increase their tolerance to aversive situations.

While these programs focus on helping children identify thoughts and events that contribute to their anxiety and disruptive behavior, and secondly, allow them to develop more adaptive strategies, Hannesdottir & Ollendick (2007) observe that the intensity of underlying emotional responses may compromise therapeutic outcomes. In an attempt to address the fact that as many as 40% of children having received CBT still experienced symptoms related to anxiety disorders (Kendall et al., 2005; Ollendick et al., 2006), the authors explored the link between intense emotions and cognitive processes. Indeed, their review suggests that while anxious children may integrate new coping skills at a rational level, they may not have access to them when faced with intense emotional experiences. As such, the authors comment that "hot cognitions"—or emotionally laden cognitions may prevent individuals from accessing rational and adaptive solutions in times of need. Hannesdottir & Ollendick therefore suggest that "due to the adverse effects of negative emotions, anxious children are especially unlikely to succeed in stressful situations if they only receive didactic training" (p.286). The authors therefore stress the importance of "inducing" positive emotions as part of CBT based therapeutic interventions in order to maximize treatment outcomes.

Alternative age-appropriate interventions inspired by positive psychology

Weaving components of positive psychology with age appropriate CBT for latency aged children presenting internalized and externalized disorders into a coherent program that strives to increase coping skills through pleasant and engaging activities poses challenges. How can therapists engage children in therapy when these clients most often lack insight as to the nature of their problems, do not necessarily possess elaborate language skills in order to articulate and share complex feelings and thoughts and finally,

may lack the necessary motivation (Riley, 1999) to address painful experiences? Children engaged in therapy are typically referred due to parent and teacher requests and may thus greet therapeutic encounters with great resistance (Matorin & McNamara, 1996; Reid, 2001). In order to bypass such limitations, some authors have proposed to devise interventions based on games and playful activities that appeal to young clients on the basis of their developmental appropriateness. Indeed, Greenwood (2002) proposes that "creative imaginative play is the young child's natural way of working through difficulties" (p.308). The use of play interventions has been established in play-therapy particularly with latency-aged children (Bellinson, 2002; Prokoviev, 1998; Swank, 2008). Indeed, Landreth (1991) proposes that "children's play can be more fully appreciated when recognized as their natural medium of communication. [...] For children to 'play out' their experiences and feelings is the most natural dynamic and self-healing process in which children can engage" (p.10).

Recent studies (Hannesdottir & ollendick, 2007; Scott & Feeny, 2006) have turned to components inspired by play-therapy as well as by art therapy and merged them with CBT in order to reach specific goals. For instance, Scott & Feeny have introduced a scrap book activity to their child-friendly version of cognitive restructuring—known as "detective thinking"—in order to visually map progress and create a concrete reference tool. In their article, they describe how a nine year old client had been instructed to monitor her progress by creating a "help book" filled with images, pictures and drawings as well as reminders of useful coping skills acquired throughout therapy. The authors noted that as part of the closing session, the child was invited to review and elaborate on

the therapeutic process made visible through the images and personally relevant strategies, a process reminiscent of art therapy.

The inclusion of a visual component as part of the treatment plan seems particularly relevant for the developmental needs of younger clients, as children have been known to have reduced capacity to verbalize dysfunctional cognitions and may perhaps benefit from other means of expression such as visual modalities (Comer et al., 2004; Van der Kolk, 2002). Furthermore, several authors (Albano & Kendall, 2002; Borkovec, Robinson, Pruzinsky, & Depree, 1983) have noted that intrusive thoughts associated with worries and potential threats are experienced both verbally and visually as "a chain of thoughts and images, negatively affect-laden and relatively uncontrollable" (Borkovec et al., p.10). Based on the presence of mental imagery associated with anxious responses, the addition of a visual modality to treatment could provide greater access to internal processes that contribute to mental distress. Art therapy may thus constitute a developmentally age appropriate alternative to more conventional strategies that focus solely on cognitions and the capacity to effectively verbalize internal states. As stated by Rubin (1984), "In a nonlinguistic fashion, it is the peculiar power of art to be able to symbolize not only intrapsychic events, but interpersonal ones as well, and to collapse multileveled or sequential happenings into a single visual statement" (p.269). Reliance on non-verbal modalities in the context of psychotherapy could thus allow young clients to symbolically express, represent and sort through issues that may lead to both internalizing and externalizing disorders. As such, many authors (Bloom, 1997; Harvey, 1989; Henley, 1998; Prokoviev, 1998; Rosal, 1993; Ross, 1997; Tibbetts & Stone, 1990) thus validate adopting an art therapy approach in regards to working with young children,

as summarized in the following statement: "the art therapy approach has proven to be the treatment of choice for latency-age children in outpatient clinical facilities and therapeutic and public school settings" (Langarten, 1981, p.106).

Art therapy for childhood internalizing and externalizing disorders

Initial theories informing the practice of creative arts therapies have originally been formulated based on psychodynamic models and their assumption that artistic imagery reflects unconscious or formerly repressed material (Kramer, 1971; Naumberg, 1966). The underlying hypothesis supporting the effectiveness of art therapy was thus based on the assumption that access to uncovered material would allow the individual to gain insight and work through conflicts (Rogers, 2001). Yet, more recent applications have focused on broader and more eclectic paradigms incorporating humanistic as well as more systemic approaches (Wadeson, 2001). In accordance with the prevailing evidenced-based paradigm, several authors (Henley, 1998; Rosal, 1993, 2001; Rozum, 2001) have indicated a recent trend in regards to merging art therapy practices to CBT interventions such as promoting the acquisition of problem-solving skills through shortterm, solution-focused therapy as opposed to more psychodynamic exploration of subconscious conflicts. As summarized by Rosal (2001), art therapy combined with CBT strategies strives to include components such as "cognitive mapping; problem-solving; modeling; relaxation techniques; systematic desensitization; implosion; personal constructs; mental messages and internal speech; mental imagery; externalizing internal processes; exploring and assessing feelings states; and using reinforcements and prompts" (p. 215).

According to Harvey (1989), creative arts therapies "unite the cognitive aspects of creativity and the therapeutic aspect of behavioral and personality change. Because of this integration of thinking and feeling, the creative arts therapies offer an opportunity to positively effect social/emotional and academic behavior" (p.86). In his study of creative arts interventions administered to elementary school aged children, Harvey identified gains such as increased self-esteem and increased feelings of competency; greater cognitive flexibility as well as more "social problem solving skills" (p.88). Such findings have been recently supported by Rozum (2001), particularly in regards to group art therapy which provides opportunities to bond with other group members and practice newly acquired social skills. Rozum therefore proposes that "along with problem solving and bonding, art making acts as a container" (p. 121), thus providing a safe setting for behaviorally disordered children who require a structured setting and clearly defined boundaries.

While art therapy has slowly begun to incorporate CBT strategies, recent literature (Feldman, 2008) also reveals a budding interest in merging art therapy with positive psychology. For instance, in a recently published literature review, Worrall and Jerry (2007) sought to investigate the link between resilience and art therapy, attempting to explore the possibility of creating new interventions focused on promoting resilience. Through their exploration of literature, the authors suggest that art therapy could allow individuals to increase coping skills, gain mastery of thought as well as enhance self-esteem, therefore contributing to strengthen resiliency mechanisms.

Although previously recognized as a component associated with resilient individuals, Worrall and Jerry (2007) have placed special emphasis on the role creativity

may play in the lives of individuals facing adversity. Interestingly, although creativity is obviously associated with art work, it is also manifested through resourcefulness and problem-solving, hence capacities that are traditionally considered to be determined by rational and cognitive processes. As such, Rogers (2001) considers creativity and problem-solving to be expressions of mental flexibility and adaptive processes reflecting healthy functioning. In a similar fashion, Rosal (2001) proposes that art making remains an "inherently cognitive process" (p.217) as opposed to a mystical and chaotic experience typically associated with creative endeavors.

These considerations seem to bridge the gap between cognitive and creative processes individuals rely on when envisioning solutions; consequently, they may provide interesting leads to new interventions that combine art therapy with problemsolving skills for younger populations. In the case of children experiencing intrusive thoughts and images due to anxiety disorders, providing a visual outlet for these disturbing manifestations could allow them to release fears through art work, confront issues and eventually envision alternative solutions. As noted by Van der Kolk (2002), children are more likely to communicate distressing experiences through artistic representations rather than relying on a verbal mode of communication. Therefore, visual representations of aversive scenarios or images could allow progressive exposure to anxious material as well as solicit reflections concerning feared outcomes. Through the therapist's guidance, alternative outcomes could be explored and solutions envisioned, perhaps reflecting Worrall and Jerry's (2007) statement: "Art therapy and creativity can lead individuals to gain a sense of mastery and control, not just of the art materials, but of the content expressed" (p.44).

Literature review conclusion

Based on the previous review, literature theoretically supports the merging of an art therapy approach with CBT interventions grounded in positive psychology specifically for latency aged clients presenting internalizing disorders with or without possible comorbid externalizing features. Indeed, Harvey (1989) suggests that creative arts therapies may successfully allow children to "become interested in the cognitive activities of problem-solving while, at the same time, addressing their needs to understand emotional/social difficulties" (p.89). By allowing children to externalize internalized states, by providing opportunities to visually represent and explore concerns as well as through the process of envisioning alternatives to maladaptive behavior, art therapy may provide age-appropriate and positive experiences to younger clients lacking the cognitive maturation to pursue traditional CBT. Intrinsically pleasurable components associated with art making as well as reliance on nonverbal modalities delivered in a safe setting may bypass the resistance and stigma attached to formal psychotherapy, therefore increasing younger client's motivation and participation in the therapeutic process. In the case of children at odd ends of a diagnostic spectrum as defined by internalizing versus externalizing disorders, art therapy may provide the "meeting ground of inner and outer world" (Rubin, 1984, p.268), thus bridging the gap between such opposite manifestations of childhood distress. By allowing children's internal dialogues to emerge through artistic creations and tapping into anxious preoccupations and negative thought processes, therapists may assist in preventing internalized distress from surfacing through oppositional and maladaptive behaviors, thus avoiding potential externalizing disorders.

Art therapy program outline

Introduction

Based on the previous literature review, the following section will propose the outline for a new art therapy program based on an integration of CBT with positive psychology. More specifically, the goals of this new program would be to strengthen problem-solving skills in order to promote resiliency, thus supporting and expanding children's adaptive coping skills. As opposed to developing an elaborate and detailed plan for each individual art therapy session, the current study strives to present the global and essential features of the program in the hopes of providing a useful guide to future art therapy students as well as practitioners working with latency aged clients presenting internalizing and/or externalizing disorders. The outline should thus constitute a starting point for future art therapy programs delivered in interdisciplinary settings.

Program outline

a) Duration.

According to the American Art Therapy Association (1985), short-term art therapy offered to "seriously emotionally disturbed" (SED) children has been suggested as a valid treatment option particularly in school settings. Authors such as Williams (1976) and Wolf (1973) had indeed previously observed the usefulness of adopting a time-limited art therapy approach when counseling children. More recent findings (Riley, 1999; Tibbets & Stone, 1990) also support the effectiveness of short-term art therapy programs delivered in institutions such as school settings and outpatient centers, thus matching the current medical and economic context which is in favor of short-term interventions.

Based on a review of several existing programs relying on child appropriate CBT interventions such as the "Coping Cat Programme" (Kendall, 1990), Ginsburg's (2009) review of the CAPS as well as Rosal's (1993) investigation of the effectiveness of CBT inspired art therapy, the newly developed art therapy program should consist of approximately 14 total sessions, each lasting one hour in duration. While Kendall's program contains 16 sessions, others such as the CAPS have been structured based on a flexible 11 week schedule which includes three bolster sessions; therefore, art therapists wishing to implement the proposed art therapy program should remain flexible in terms of program duration. While certain authors (Gumaer, 1984; Landreth & Sweeney, 1999) have cautioned that a minimum of ten group sessions are necessary to reach therapeutic outcomes, planning a 12 to 14 week program should appeal to clients, interdisciplinary team members as well as policy makers.

b) Format.

According to Sugar (1993), group psychotherapy constitutes the most frequently used format in regards to pediatric populations. Among the numerous benefits associated with a group setting as opposed to individual sessions, Erickson and Palmer (2004) cite the developmental appropriateness of such a context which allows children to identify with peers and work through conflicts; furthermore, the authors propose that group settings provide children with the opportunity to share concerns in a normative setting where modeling of behaviors and interpersonal support are encouraged. Specifically in regards to CBT interventions delivered through a group format (GCBT), Silverman et al. (1999) propose that "GCBT emphasized the use of natural group processes, including peer modeling, feedback, support, reinforcement, and social comparison" (p.997). The

effectiveness of GCBT has since received empirical support, particularly in regards to a variety of internalizing as well as externalizing disorders (Barrett, 1998; Erickson & Palmer; Flannery-Schroeder & Kendall, 2000).

More importantly, literature based in alternative treatment modalities such as play and art therapy also supports group interventions for children (Bratton & Webb Ferebee, 1999; Ginott, 1975; Prokoviev, 1998; Rubin, 1984; Skaife & Huet, 1998; Sweeney & Homeyer, 1999). For instance, Rubin illustrates how group context may constitute a facilitating and safe environment for children, thus allowing them to more effectively externalize feelings and explore interrelationships. Others such as Prokoviev recommend group format as a particularly appropriate "vehicle for interaction and a more concrete form of communication" (p.45) for latency-aged clients. Of particular interest in regards to internalizing and externalizing disorders, Rozum (2001) proposes that group sessions would provide individuals with the opportunity to succeed while developing "skills in conflict resolution, communication techniques and the ability to self-monitor their own behavior" (p.117).

Finally, an additional argument in favor of group interventions could be articulated based on the current medical context, that is, the creation of an art therapy program delivered in a group setting would appeal to policy makers due to its economic viability (Erickson & Palmer, 2004). Indeed, in regards to GCBT, Silverman et al. propose that a time-limited group format "has the potential to be a practical and usable psychosocial intervention for practitioners who, in the context of diminishing mental health resources, need to provide time and cost-efficient treatments" (p.1001).

c) Group composition.

Close examination of specific art therapy groups (Prokoviev, 1998; Rozum, 2001) recommends that groups intended for latency aged clients presenting externalizing disorders should be structured based on a ratio of two therapists per five participants. In summarizing important features for art therapy groups, Prokoviev recommends closed-groups containing a maximum of six participants lead by a team of co-therapists. Others such as Landreth &Sweeney (1999) caution against a group of more than five members, particularly if participants are very young. Accordingly, these authors suggest that the younger the clients, the fewer participants should be included in each group. Based on such findings, the new art therapy program would thus ideally contain five children, an art therapist as well as a co-therapist whom may be recruited among interdisciplinary staff members such as occupational therapists or special educators. Such combinations of group leaders have indeed been effective in many practicum settings and institutions.

In regards to inclusion criteria, literature (Ginott, 1975; Slavson, 1944)

recommends grouping individuals with similar presenting problems in order to tailor specific objectives that may benefit most participants. Yet, while anxious manifestations have been considered to result from *overcontrolled* behaviors as opposed to externalized disorders which have been associated with *undercontrolled* behaviors (Achenbach, 1991), as previously discussed, several authors (Boylan et al., 2007; Lahey et al., 2002; Lambert et al., 2001; Lavigne et al., 2001; Weitmann, 2006) have explored the possibility that common underlying factors may contribute to the emergence of such seemingly different problems. Based on such arguments, grouping children presenting difficulties situated on such opposite ends of a diagnostic spectrum would allow art therapists to create therapeutic environments according to Bratton and Webb Ferebee's (1999)

suggestions, namely that "a well balanced group would consist of preadolescents whose personality characteristics, presenting problems, and coping styles complement each other, so that group members may have a therapeutic effect on each other" (p.195).

In regards to gender, Prokoviev (1998) recommends mixed groups based on the fact that "girls may have better impulse control" (p.54) and may thus offer modeling of appropriate behavior as well as enhance communication between members. Others such as Anthony (1965) caution that age should constitute an important factor when considering grouping both genders in the same program. Specifically, Landreth & Sweeney (1999) recommend that "prior to the age of nine, it is recommended that groups be generally gender balanced if both boys and girls are included" (p.55). In regards to older children, these authors suggest separate groups due to the effects of psychosocial development and the importance of relating to same sex peers during the latter part of the latency period.

Grouping children according to their chronologic age has also been considered an important factor according to Landreth & Sweeney (1999) who recommend limiting the age difference between participants to approximately one year, maximum two. Since the proposed art therapy program is intended for latency-age children, thus a period extended from the age of six to twelve, it would be most appropriate to apply the program to groups of mixed children between the ages of six and nine, and to plan on providing segregated group sessions for either girls or boys aged nine to twelve in order to respect psychosocial and developmental differences.

d) Group structure.

Literature on group interventions intended for emotionally and behaviorally disturbed children (Henley, 1998; Hudson et al., 2001; Landgarten, 1981; Rozum, 2001) suggests the importance of relying on clearly defined rules as well as fixed structures in order to maintain safe and appropriate therapeutic environments. According to Landreth and Sweeney (1999), therapeutic limit setting is crucial in order to provide safety and allow children to experience containment. Quoting Moustakas (1959), the authors propose that "in a therapeutic relationship, limits provide the boundary or structure in which growth can occur" (p.9). Indeed, Henley recently proposed that "routine and regimen are also critical to the containment of impulsive behavior, particularly between activities" (p.11). Furthermore, in regards to children presenting anxiety disorders, Henley recommends reliance on rituals as well as frequent reminders concerning the proposed sequence of activities in order to "limit the frequency and intensity of anxious reactions" (p.11). Therefore, in order to facilitate transitions and reduce anxiety throughout each session, leaders of this newly developed art therapy program should be willing to adopt predictable routines as well as provide clear rules to be followed during activities.

While group leaders may explicitly present rules defining appropriate or expected behavior, they must consequently be willing to "enforce" them through firm, kind, and consistent strategies. Indeed, Rozum (2001) and Rosal (1993) suggest adopting behavioral contingencies in order to motivate and help children achieve more adaptive functioning. Specifically, when describing the CBT inspired component of his own art therapy approach, Henley (1998) proposes that "such programs are usually based upon offering tangible rewards, such as points, prizes, or privileges in return for compliance.

The therapist and the child agree upon a contract which spells out each desired behavioral objective, as well as the consequences of failure" (p.4).

While children apparently tend to regard such strategies as elaborate forms of bribery (Henley, 1997), running a group for children presenting disruptive disorders requires behavior management strategies. Hudson et al. (2001) offer clear examples of techniques used during applications of Kendall's (1990) "Coping Cat Program"; for instance, the authors suggest that therapists may "reward the child for on-task behavior or remove privileges for disruptive or impulsive behavior. For older children, the therapist may focus on helping the child to self-detect when he or she is off-task" (p. 339). While it is beyond the scope of the current study to present numerous specific behavioral management strategies, Henley (1998), Hudson et al. (2001), Prokoviev (1998), Rosal (1993), as well as Rozum (2001) provide many additional examples.

In regards to art activities within each group session, Rubin (1984) recommends adopting a "framework for freedom" (p.173), thus relying on a structured format during sessions in order to provide safe boundaries in which children may freely explore their concerns. Others such as Landgarten (1981) propose that therapists should adopt a didactic approach, thus offering special themes and deliberate activities to be followed by participants. Based on such recommendations, providing more guidance and structuring sessions around specific art activities would constitute sound practices in regards to working with children, particularly for those with disruptive tendencies. Furthermore, by adopting a more directive stance, art therapists would remain consistent with the more goal-oriented, solution-focused CBT approach, as stated by Rozum (2001) who

recommends "integrating art expressions with the highly directive, structured, and timelimited approaches of cognitive-behavioral therapy" (p.116).

To summarize, when running this new art therapy program, leaders should be willing to apply behavioral-management strategies as well as adopt a more directive approach, thus selecting and preparing specific tasks and activities based on themes that reflect the goals of problem solving. The use of reinforcements, such as stickers, small attainable rewards or access to special arts materials, would increase compliance and promote appropriate behavior until participants acquired greater self-control. Art therapists should be prepared to devote time and effort to plan out activities in advance, breaking down essential steps in order to provide children with opportunities for success. Indeed, Hudson et al. (2001) suggest that simplifying certain tasks and presenting instructions through clear and various modalities would help children with poor attentional resources or with performance anxiety, thus leading them to experience success. The challenges faced by leaders would be to provide sufficient structure to promote a safe and consistent external frame all the while allowing freedom within the actual art making. As stated by Rubin (1984), "individuals can easily use a common task or theme to deal with their own idiosyncratic concerns, as long as it is sufficiently flexible" (p.180).

e) Integration of CBT interventions within an art therapy approach

Developing a short-term, solution-focused and theme-based art therapy program that includes behavioral management techniques as opposed to long-term, non-directive arts based exploration would certainly integrate some of the important features associated with CBT intervention programs intended for children. Yet, an essential feature of such

an arts based program seeking to further integrate a CBT model informed by positive psychology would be to focus on developing problem-solving skills.

As stated by Albano and Kendall (2002), CBT with children involves identifying thought processes through "developmentally appropriate, cognitive restructuring skills [that] are focused on identifying maladaptive thoughts and teaching realistic, coping-focused thinking" (p.130). Others such as Kernberg & Chazan (1991) present interventions that mirror broadening theories (Fitzpatrick & Stalikas, 2008) associated with positive psychology, as apparent in the following quote regarding supportive interventions which "serve to broaden the child's awareness of alternatives and possibilities for problem solving and provide alternatives to break old patterns" (p.61). By targeting more effective problem-skills, therapists could expect to provide children with more adaptive tools and better adjustment, thus positively impacting resilience.

This new art therapy program should therefore focus on helping participants identify situations as well as thoughts and emotions associated with problematic experiences, and secondly, help them envision alternative solutions through image making. Indeed, numerous authors (Henley, 1998; Packard, 1977; Rosal, 2001; Rubin, 1984) have applied such techniques in art therapy. For instance, based on Packard's observations as well as her own, Rosal suggest that "the portrayal of tough personal and social situations through drawings is a technique used by several art therapists to increase problem-solving. Having children depict complex life moments can be followed by generating alternative solutions in pictures" (p.215). Others such as Henley suggest that "drawing activities in the form of narrative cartoons structured in a story board format enabled the child to visualize future events and the problems that might arise" (p.11).

In regards to direct applications of CBT inspired interventions—particularly those inspired by rational-emotive therapy-based on Bernard and Joyce's (1990) observations, Bernard (1990) recommends "that the student be provided with visual aids to represent different ideas being described including 'thought clouds', 'self-concept drawings', and 'Happening-Thought-Feeling-Reaction diagrams' (p.299). Reliance on such visual modalities could easily be translated into directed art activities in which participants would be instructed to identify and represent problematic events, adding narrative captions that reflect maladaptive thoughts which could then be addressed through representations of alternative scenarios. Indeed, in regards to working with pediatric clients, most CBT authors (Bernard, 1990; Kendall, 1990; Silverman et al., 1999) suggest the following steps in regards to developing more effective problem-solving skills: selfobserve in order to identify problematic thoughts and behaviors; challenge maladaptive thoughts; develop more adaptive problem-solving skills. For instance, Bienvenu and Ginsburg (2007) describe Kendall's (1994) FEAR program which includes the following strategies: "F=feeling good by learning to relax; E=expecting good things to happen through positive self-talk; A=actions to take in facing up to fear stimuli; R=rewarding oneself for efforts to overcome fear or worry" (p.648). Such a program thus includes relaxation as well as management of worry through the acquisition of positive self-talk, strategies which could easily be introduced through art activities. For instance, according to Smitheman-Brown and Church (1996), activities such as mandalas would be particularly well suited to meet the needs of children presenting ADHD due to the relaxing and centering components associated with such a technique; furthermore, the authors suggests that "tasks requiring an active, motoric response as opposed to a passive

response may also help hyperactive children channel their behaviors" (p.253), therefore pointing to the numerous benefits associated with arts based activities in the context of therapy with children.

Of particular interest for the development of such a new art therapy program, Rosal (2001, p.216) presents several specific art tasks in conjunction with cognitivebehavioral goals. For instance, as part of twelve CBT techniques adapted to art therapy interventions, she recommends drawing solutions to a problem (Packard, 1997; Rosal, 1985, 1992, 1993, 1996), in order to increase the child's repertoire of adaptive behaviors, thus supporting more efficient problem-solving skills; drawing a "circle of offense; Before, During & After drawings; draw inside/outside self; masks" (p.216) as part of interventions aimed at uncovering mental processes associated with maladaptive behaviors as well as dysfunctional thought processes (Gerber, 1994; Gentry & Rosal, 1998; Roth, 1987; Stanley & Miller, 1993); as well as gradual exposure to anxiety provoking images in order to reduce avoidance responses and stress related to phobias (DeFrancisco, 1983; Gerber). Presented in the Appendix, a listing of age-appropriate art activities to be included in group sessions will further guide the implementation of this new art therapy program. Inspired by CBT and translated into art activities, such interventions would constitute sound strategies as part of group interventions aimed at increasing problem-solving skills in latency-aged clients presenting internalizing and externalizing disorders. Through combining such interdisciplinary interventions as CBT, positive psychology as well as art therapy, the new program would reflect the current context in favor of empirically supported, short-term, solution-focused therapies delivered through a group format.

Personal considerations and limitations of the study

The goal of the current study was to devise the outline for a new art therapy program intended for latency-aged clients presenting internalized disorders with or without comorbid externalizing features. As previously demonstrated, literature supports the merging of CBT interventions within an art therapy program inspired by positive psychology, more specifically, through processes that seek to increase resiliency through the acquisition of a broader range of effective problem-solving skills. Indeed, as evidenced by current art therapy literature publications, several art therapists (Gentry & Rosal, 1998; Gerber, 1994; Henley, 1998; Rosal, 1993, 2001; Rozum, 2001; Stanley & Miller, 1993) are now actively weaving CBT techniques into the practice of art therapy, therefore straying from the psychodynamic origins of creative arts therapies. The rationale behind a more eclectic as well as more CBT inspired approach finds credence in Henley's (1998) statement regarding the power of arts based therapies, that is, "the expressive arts, in particular, can facilitate and enhance the effectiveness of all the other interventions" (p.11). While merging CBT with creative arts therapies has received theoretical support, few empirical studies adopting sound methodology and adequate sample sizes have been conducted. Indeed, although Rosal's (1993) comparative study has provided interesting leads regarding the effectiveness of CBT inspired art therapy for behavior disordered children, few studies have since been conducted with larger samples of participants or with rigorous methodology. Therefore, the effectiveness of art therapy programs remains unaddressed, at least according to current empirical standards as proposed by "The Task Force on Promotion and Dissemination of Psychological Procedures" (Chambless et al., 1998a, 1998b). Furthermore, an important concern

regarding the blending of such interdisciplinary interventions as CBT and art therapy can be summarized by the following statement

CBT is not simply a 'toolbox' of techniques, but involves a theoretical and empirical approach to understanding, assessing, and treating emotional disorders. A comprehensive educational and training history, appropriate continuing education, and adherence to the CBT model distinguishes the CBT therapist from those who, through widespread dissemination of CBT protocols, may haphazardly apply techniques without fully appreciating their bases and utility (Albano & Kendall, 2002, p.131).

While the goals of this new art therapy program are based on enhancing problem-solving skills and increasing resilience – thus CBT components or "tools" – the core therapeutic processes remain grounded in art therapy; therefore, this new program does not attempt to masquerade as or replace formal CBT. Rather, the therapeutic benefits associated with this program would be met through processes linked to creativity, externalization of internal preoccupations, opportunities to succeed through creative elaborations as well as group interactions which would contribute to therapeutic growth. Furthermore, in line with broadening theories and the potent benefits associated with positive experiences in the context of psychotherapy (Fitzpatrick and Stalikas, 2008; Flückiger and Holtforth, 2008; Hannesdottir & Ollendick, 2007), art therapy sessions would provide opportunities to explore media in a pleasurable setting while focusing on promoting individual strengths and coping skills.

The aim of this study was to provide a clear rationale for including CBT into the practice of art therapy based on a coherent literature review. The decision to rely on a

CBT model as opposed to psychodynamic literature constitutes a profound shift in my own evolution as a budding therapist. Indeed, my entering a creative arts therapies program stemmed from my own experience with psychodynamic therapy as well as my attraction to such a complex and elaborate paradigm, so attuned to the creative arts. Yet, rather than providing arguments supporting the creation of program grounded in psychodynamic theory, I have set out to provide the guidelines for a program based on pragmatic considerations. Indeed, throughout this study, I have referred to empirical studies and attempted to validate the creation of this new art therapy program based on arguments supporting short-term, solution-focused and cost-efficient interventions. Such a deliberate focus should not be interpreted as my rejecting long-term psychodynamic explorations which may at times be necessary, if not preferable for certain clients and for certain problematics. Rather, this personal paradigm shift may reflect my experience in a practicum setting where preschool children presenting disruptive behaviors were monitored, assessed, and, through behavioral contingencies, these children were taught appropriate behaviors. As an art therapy intern evolving in such a behavioral setting, it seemed important to adopt certain basic strategies to maintain coherence with the program's main goals as well as philosophy. Indeed, it soon appeared that within individual as well as group sessions, children presenting both internalizing and externalizing symptoms required firm boundaries as well as consistent and predictable environments. I recognized that allowing children to deviate markedly from the expected behavior while in art therapy sessions would have constituted a confusing transition for them; furthermore, adopting too permissive a stance would have been counterproductive with the program's main agenda, that is, modification of aberrant behavior. Therefore,

despite my initial reluctance, I soon relied on a reward system for good behavior, particularly during group sessions where behavioral management strategies as well as directed activities appeared to be a necessity. The current study therefore reflects both my personal experience with children attending an outpatient program intended for children presenting emotional and behavioral difficulties, as well as theoretical considerations presented in the previous literature review.

In conclusion, it is my hope that this theoretical study will prove useful to future art therapy students working with latency-aged clients presenting internalized disorders with or without possible externalizing features. Beyond suggesting the outline and essential features of such a new program, this study has attempted to present valid and reliable data in the hopes of demonstrating the importance of establishing art therapy as a respectable treatment option in medical settings. Such an undertaking reflects a personal desire to encounter more empirically supported research associated with art therapy in order to narrow the gap between art therapies and other interventions modalities such as counseling, psychology and social work. Perhaps, by developing more opportunities for art therapists to engage and participate within interdisciplinary teams, the profession of art therapist may gain more credibility, therefore more positions may be developed for future art therapists wishing to evolve within the medical system.

Such concerns reflect personal opinions and by no means discredit art therapists working in other settings where medical models do not prevail. This study has obviously been guided by personal considerations as well as assumptions such as the importance of following trends in regards to mental health care, thus attempting to facilitate the dialogue between creative arts therapies and other interdisciplinary professions working

towards common goals. Furthermore, this study also reflects biases and limitations associated with insufficient practical experience; yet, by relying on recent literature and reliable sources for data collection, I hope to have provided sound arguments that support the overall structure and goals of this new art therapy program.

Olimpsing back at the end of a two year training program, I value the opportunities granted to me by my supervisors as well as by the numerous staff members who have generously shared both time and knowledge during my two internships; their support and advice has proven invaluable. Training alongside interdisciplinary team members and having the good fortune of participating in numerous team meetings has allowed me to appreciate the complexity of mental health care and the necessity to pool efforts in order to meet therapeutic goals. I suspect my involvement with clients and with staff members has been significantly enriched by my attempt to understand the practicum setting's treatment philosophy. It is my belief that by keeping in mind the ultimate goals and developing manageable objectives tailored to meet the needs of clients, one may increase the odds of attaining therapeutic outcomes and foster client growth and well being.

References

- Achenbach, T. M. (1991). Manual for the child Behavior Checklist/4-18 and 1991 profile. Burlington: University of Vermont, Department of Psychiatry.
- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2001). Manual for the ASEBA School-Age forms and Profiles. Burlington: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth and Families.
- Albano, A. M., Kendall, P. C. (2002). Cognitive behavioural therapy for children and adolescents with anxiety disorders: Clinical research advances. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 14, 129-134.
- American Art Therapy Association. (1985). Art therapy in the schools: A position paper of the American Art Therapy Association. *Art Therapy*, 2, 19-21.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). Diagnostic and Statistic manual of mental disorders (4th ed.). Washington DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and Statistic manual of mental disorders-text revision (4th Ed.). Washington DC: Author.
- Anderson, J. C., Williams, S., McGee, R., & Silva, P. A. (1987). DSM-III disorders in preadolescent children: Prevalence in a large sample from the general population.

 *Archives of General Psychiatry, 44, 69-76.
- Andrews, G., Henderson, S., & Hall, W. (2001). Prevalence, comorbidity, disability and service utilization. Overview of the Australian National Mental Health Survey.

 British Journal of Psychiatry, 178, 145-153.

- Anthony, E. J. (1965). Group analytic psychotherapy with children and adolescents. In S. H. Foulkes and E. J. Anthony (Eds.), *Group psychotherapy: The psychoanalytic approach*, (2nd edition, pp.186-232). London: Maresfield Library.
- Armbruster, P., & Kadzin, A. (1994). Attrition in child psychotherapy. In T. H.

 Ollendick, & R. J. Prinz (Eds.), Advances in clinical child psychology (pp.81-108).

 New York: Plenum.
- Barkley, R. (1990). Attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: A handbook for diagnosis and treatment. New York: Guilford Press.
- Barlow, D. H. (1988). Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic. New York: Guilford Press.
- Barlow, D. H. (2000). Unraveling the mysteries of anxiety and its disorders from the perspective of emotion theory. *American psychologist, November*, 1247-1263.
- Barlow, D. H. (2002). Anxiety and its disorders (2nd edition). New York: Guilford Press.
- Barlow, D. H., Chorpita, B. F. & Turovsky, J. (1996). Fear, panic, anxiety, and disorders of emotion. In D. A. Hope (Ed.), *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation: Vol. 43*.

 *Perspectives on anxiety, panic, and fear (pp. 251-328). Lincoln: Nebraska University Press.
- Barrett, P. M. (1998). An evaluation of cognitive-behavioral group treatments for childhood anxiety disorders. Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 27, 459-468.
- Beck, A. T. (1985). Anxiety disorders and phobias: A cognitive perspective. New York:

 Basic books.

- Beck, A. T. (1986). Cognitive approaches to anxiety disorders. In B. F. Shaw, Z. V. Segal, T. M. Vallis, & F. E. Cashman (Eds.), *Anxiety disorders: Psychological and biological perspectives* (pp.115-136). New York: Plenum.
- Beck, J. S., & Beck, A. T. (1995). Cognitive therapy: Basics and beyond. New York: Guilford Press.
- Beidel, D. C., & Turner, S. M. (1997). At risk for anxiety: I. Psychopathology in the offspring of anxious parents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36, 918-924.
- Beidel, D. C., & Turner, S. M. (2005). Childhood anxiety disorders: A guide to research and treatment. New York: Routledge.
- Bellinson, J. (2002). *Children's use of board games in psychotherapy*. Northvale, N. J. Jason Aronson.
- Bernard, M. E. (1990). Rational emotive therapy with children and adolescents: Treatment strategies. *School Psychology Review*, 19, (3), 294-303.
- Bernard, M, E., & Joyce, M. R. (1990). Using RET effectively with children and adolescents. In M. E. Bernard (Ed.), *Using rational-emotive therapy with children:*A practitioner's guide. New York: Plenum Press.
- Bienvenu, J. O., & Ginsburg, G. S. (2007). Prevention of anxiety disorders. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 19 (6), 674-654.
- Bloom, S. (1997). Creating sanctuary: Toward the evolution of sane societies. New York: Routledge.

- Borkovec, T. D., Robinson, E., Pruzinsky, T., & Depree, J. A. (1983). Preliminary exploration of worry: Some characteristics and processes. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 21, 9-18.
- Boylan, K., Vaillancourt, T., Boyle, M., & Szatmari, P. (2007). Comorbidity of internalizing disorders in children with oppositional defiant disorder. *European Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 16, 8, 484-494.
- Braswell, L., & Kendall, P. C. (2001) Cognitive-behavioral therapy with youth. In K. S. Dobson (Ed.), *Handbook of cognitive-behavioral therapies* (2nd ed., pp.246-294). New York: Guilford Press.
- Bratton, S. C., & Webb Ferebee, K. (1999). The use of structured expressive art activities in group activity therapy with preadolescents. In D. S. Sweeney, & L. E. Homeyer (Eds.), *The handbook of group play therapy: How to do it, how it works, whom it's best for* (pp.192-214). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Cannon, W. B. (1929). *Bodily changes in pain, hunger, fear and rage* (2nd Ed.). New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Chambless, D. L. & Hollon, S. D. (1998a). Defining empirically supported therapies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 66, 7-18.
- Chambless, D. L., Baker, M. J., Baucom, D. H., Beutler, L. E., Calhoun, K. S., Crits-Christoph, P., Daiuto, A., DeRubeis, R., Detweiler, J., Haaga, D. A. F., Bennett Johnson, S., McCurry, S., Mueser, K. T., Pope, K. S., Sanderson, W. C., Shoham, V., Stickle, T., Williams, D. A., & Woody, S. R. (1998b). Update on empirically validated therapies, II. *Clinical Psychologist*, *51*, 3-16.

- Clark, L. A., & Watson, D. (1991). Tripartite model of anxiety and depression:

 Psychometric evidence and taxonomic implications. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 100, 316-336.
- Comer, J. S., & Kendall, P. C. (2004). A Symptom-level examination of parent-child agreement in the diagnosis of anxious youth. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 43, 878-886.
- Comer, J. S., Kendall, P. C., Franklin, M. E., Hudson, J. L., & Pimentel, S. S. (2004).

 Obsessing/worrying about the overlap between obsessive-compulsive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder in youth. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 24, 663-683.
- Compton, S. N., Burns, B. J., Egger, H. L., & Robertson, E. (2002). Review of the evidence base for treatment of childhood psychopathology: Internalizing disorders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70, 6, 1240-1266.
- Compton, S. N., March, J. S., Brent, D., Albano, A. M., Weersing, R., & Curry, J.

 (2004).Cognitive-behavioral psychotherapy for anxiety disorders and depressive disorders in children and adolescents: An evidenced-based medicine review.

 Journal of American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 43, 930-959.
- Costello, E. J., Egger, H., & Angold, A. (2005). The developmental epidemiology of anxiety disorders: Phenomenology, prevalence, and comorbidity. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 14, 631-648.
- DeFrancisco, J. (1983). Implosive art therapy: A learning-theory based, psychodynamic approach. In L. Gantt & S. Whitman (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Eleventh Annual Conference of the American Art Therapy Association* (pp.74-79). Baltimore: AATA.

- Dow, G. (2008). *Increasing self-esteem through art therapy*. Unpublished master's thesis, Concordia University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Ehrenreich, J. T., & Gross, A. M. (2002). Biaised attentional behavior in childhood anxiety: A review of theory and current empirical investigation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 22, 991-1008.
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., Spinrad, T. L., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Reiser, M., Murphy, B. C., Losoya, S. H., & Guthrie, I. K. (2001). The relations of regulation and emotionality to children's externalizing and internalizing problem behavior.

 Child Development, 72, 1112-1134.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Guthrie, I. K., Murphy, B. C., Maszk, P., Holmgren, R., & Suh, K. (1996). The relations of regulation and emotionality to problem behavior in elementary school children. *Development and Psychopathology*, 8, 141-162.
- Ellis, A. (1994). Reason and emotion in psychotherapy. New York: Birch Lane.
- Eresund, P. (2007). Psychodynamic psychotherapy for children with disruptive disorders. *Journal of Child Psychotherapy*, 33, 2, 161-180.
- Erickson, S. J., & Achilles, G. (2004). Cognitive behavioral therapy with children and adolescents. In H. Steiner (Ed.), *Handbook of mental health interventions with children and adolescents: An integrated approach* (pp. 525-556). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Erickson, S., J., & Palmer, L. L (2004). Group therapy and interventions with children and adolescents. In H. Steiner (Ed.), *Handbook of mental health interventions with children and adolescents: An integrated approach* (pp. 824-848). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass

- Feldman, N. (2008). Assisting children in the creation of new life performances: Expanding possibilities for social and emotional development. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 25, 85-97.
- Fitzpatrick, M., R., & Stalikas, A. (2008). Positive emotions as generators of therapeutic change. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 18, No. 2, 137-154.
- Flannery-Schroeder, E. C., & Kendall, P. C. (2000). Group and individual cognitive behavioral treatments for youth with anxiety disorders: A randomized controlled trial. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 24, 251-281.
- Flückiger, C., & Holtforth, M. G. (2008). Focusing the therapist's attention on the patient's strengths: A preliminary study to foster a mechanism of change in outpatient psychotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 64 (7), 876-890.
- Knaus, W. J. (1974). Rational-emotive education: A manual for elementary school teachers. New York: Institute for Rational Living.
- Fossum, S., Mørch, W. T., Handegård, B. H., & Drugli, M. B. (2007). Childhood disruptive behaviors and family functioning in clinically referred children: Are girls different from boys? *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 48, 375-382.
- Fredrickson, B. L., & Branigan, C. (2005). Positive emotions broaden the scope of attention and thought-action repertoires. *Cognition and Emotion*, 19, 3, 313-332.
- Fredrickson, B. L, & Levenson, R. W. (1998). Positive emotions speed recovery from the cardiovascular sequelae of negative emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, 12, 191-220.
- Garland, J. & Garland, O. (2001). Correlation between anxiety and oppositionality in a children's mood and anxiety disorder clinic. *Journal of Psychiatry*, 46, 953-960.

- Geldard, D., & Geldard, K. (1997). Counselling children: A practical introduction.

 London: Sage Publications.
- Gentry, H., & Rosal, M. L. (1998). Structured cognitive-behavioral art therapy of adolescents with comorbid depression and conduct problems [Abstract].

 Proceedings of the American Art Therapy Association, p.76.
- Gerber, J. (1994). The use of art therapy in juvenile sex offender specific treatment. The Arts in Psychotherapy, 21, 367-374.
- Ginott, H. (1975). Group play therapy with children. In G. Gazda (Ed.), *Basic*approaches to group psychotherapy and group counseling (2nd ed., pp. 327-341).

 Springfield, IL: Thomas.
- Ginsburg, G. S. (2004). Anxiety prevention programs for youth: Practical and theoretical considerations. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11, 430-434.
- Ginsburg, G. S. (2009). The Child Anxiety Prevention Study: Intervention model and primary outcomes. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77, 3, 580-587.
- Goodyer, I. M., Ashby, L., Altham, P. M. E., Vize, C., & Cooper, P. (1993).

 Temperament and major depression in 11 to 16 year olds. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 34, 1409-1423.
- Greenwood, A. (2002). The child who cannot bear to feel. *Psychodynamic Practice*, 8, *August*, 295-310.
- Grills, A. E., & Ollendick, T. H. (2002). Issues in parent-child agreement: The case of structured diagnostic interviews. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *5*, 57-83.

- Grills-Taquechel, A., & Ollendick, T. H. (2007). Introduction to special issue:

 Developments in the etiology and psychosocial treatments of anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. Clinical Journal of Family Psychology Review, 10, 197-198.
- Gumaer, J. (1984). Counseling and therapy for children. New York: Free Press.
- Haglund, M. E. M., Nestadt, P. S., Cooper, N. S., Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2007). Psychobiological mechanisms of resilience: Relevance to prevention and treatment of stress-related psychopathology. *Development and psychopathology*, 19, 889-920.
- Hannesdottir, D.K., & Ollendick, T. H. (2007). The role of emotion regulation in the treatment of child anxiety disorders. *Clinical Journal of Family Psychology Review*, 10, 275-293.
- Harter, S. (1990). Issues in the assessment of the self-concept of children and adolescents. In A. M. LaGreca (Ed.), Through the eyes of the child: Obtaining self-reports from children and adolescents (pp. 292-325). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Harvey, S. (1989). Creative arts therapies in the classroom: A study of cognitive, emotional, and motivational changes. *American Journal of Dance Therapy*, 11, 2, 85-100.
- Hauck, P. (1967). The rational management of children. New York: Libra.
- Henley, D. (1997). Expressive arts therapy as alternative education: devising a therapeutic curriculum. *Art Therapy: Journal of the American Art Therapy Association*, 14, 1, 15-22.

- Henley, D. (1998). Art therapy in a socialization program for children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. *American Journal of Art Therapy, 37, August,* 2-12.
- Henry, B., Moffitt, T. E., Robins, L. N., Earls, F., & Silva, P. A. (1993). Early family predictors of child and adolescent antisocial behavior: Who are the mothers of delinquents? *Criminal Behavior and Mental Health*, 3, 97-118.
- Hudson, J. L., & Manassis, K. (2004). Special series: Current issues and ideas in anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 11, 1-2.
- Hudson, J. L., Krain, A. L., & Kendall, P. C. (2001). Expanding horizons: Adapting manual-based treatments for anxious children with comorbid diagnoses. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 8, 338-346.
- Kaduson, H. G., & Schaefer, C. E. (Eds.). (2001). 101 More favorite play therapy techniques. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Kashani, J., Deusner, W., & Reid, J. (1991). Aggression and anxiety: A new look at an old notion. *Journal of American Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 30, 218-222.
- Kazdin, A. E. (1996). Conduct disorders in childhood and adolescence (Vol. 9).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Kazdin, A. E. (2000). Developing a research agenda for child and adolescent psychotherapy, *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *57*, 829-835.
- Kazdin, A. E., & Wassel, G. (1998). Treatment completion and therapeutic change among children referred for outpatient therapy. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 29, 332-340.

- Keller, M. B., Lavori, P. W., Wunder, J., Beardsley, W. R., & Schwartz, C. E. (1992).

 Chronic course of anxiety disorders in children and adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 31, 595-599.
- Kendall, P. C. (1990). Coping cat workbook. Ardmore, PA: Workbook Publishing.
- Kendal, P. C. (1993). Cognitive-behavioral strategies with youth: Guiding theory, current status, and emerging developments. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 61, 235-247.
- Kendall, P. C. (1994). Treating anxiety disorders in children: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62, 100-110.
- Kendall, P. C. (2000). Guiding theory for therapy with children and adolescents. In P. C. Kendall (Ed.), *Child and adolescent therapy* (2nd ed., pp.3-30). New York: Guilford Press.
- Kendall, P. C., Hudson, J. L., Choudhury, M., Webb, A., & Pimentel, S.
 (2005).Cognitive-behavioral treatment of childhood anxiety disorders. In E. D.
 Hibbs & P. S. Jensen (Eds.), Psychosocial treatments of child and adolescent disorders: Empirically based strategies for clinical practice (2nd ed., pp. 47-73).
 Washington, D. C.: APA.
- Kendall, P. C., Lerner, R., & Craighead, W. (1984). Human development and intervention. *Child Development*, 55, 71-82.
- Kernberg, P. & Chazan, S. (1991). Children with conduct disorders: A psychotherapy manual. New York: Basic Books.
- Kramer, E. (1971). Art as therapy with children. New York: Schoken Books.

- Krueger, R. F. (1999). The structure of common mental disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56, 921-926.
- Lachance, I. (2002). How group art therapy helps conduct-disordered children improve their social skills. Unpublished master's thesis, Concordia University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Lahey, B. B., Loeber, R., & Burke, J. (2002). Waxing and waning in concert: Dynamic comorbidity of conduct disorder with other disruptive and emotional problems over 7 years among clinic-referred boys. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 111, 4, 556-567.G
- Lahey, B.B., Loeber, R., Burke, J., Rathouz, P. J., & McBurnett, K. (2002). Waxing and waning in concert: Dynamic comorbidity of conduct disorder with other disruptive and emotional problems over 7 years among clinic-referred boys. Journal of *Abnormal Psychology*, 111, 4, 556-567.
- Lambert, E. W., Whaler, R. G., Andrade, A., R., & Bickman, L. (2001). Looking for the disorder in conduct disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 1*, 110-123.
- Landgarten, H. (1981). *Clinical art therapy: A comprehensive guide*. New York: Brunner/Mazel.
- Landreth, G. (1991). *Play therapy: The art of the relationship*. Muncie, IN: Accelerated Development.
- Landreth, G. L., & Sweeney, D. S. (1999). The freedom to be: Child-centered group play therapy. In D. S. Sweeney, & L. E. Homeyer (Eds.), *Group play therapy:_How to do it, how it works, whom it's best for* (pp.39-64). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Lang, P. J. (1979). A bio-informational theory of emotional imagery. *Psychophysiology*, 6, 495-511.
- Lavigne, J. V., LeBailly, S. A., Gouze, K. R., Cicchetti, C., Pochyly, J., Arend, R., Jessup, B. W., & Binns, H. J. (2008). Treating oppositional defiant disorder in primary care: A comparison of three models. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 33, 5, 449-461.
- Lepine, J. P. (2002). The epidemiology of anxiety disorders: Prevalence and societal costs. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 63, (Suppl. 14), 4-8.
- Leung, A., & Fagan, J. (1991). Temper Tantrums. American Family Physician, 44, 559-564.
- Lock, J. (2004). Psychotherapy in children and adolescents: An overview. In H. Steiner (Ed.), Mental health interventions in children and adolescents: An integrated developmental approach (pp. 485-556). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- McMahon, L. (1992). The development of play. In *The handbook of play therapy* (pp.1-26). New York: Tavistock/Routledge.
- Manassis, K., Hudson, J. L., Webb, A., Albano, A. M. (2004). Beyond behavioral inhibition: Etiological factors in childhood anxiety. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 11, 3-12.
- Marshall, C. & Rossman, G.B. (2006). *Designing qualitative research* (4th Ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martin, C., Cabrol, S., Bouvard, M. P., Lepine, J. P., & Mouren-Simeoni, M. C. (1999).

 Anxiety and depressive disorders in fathers and mothers of anxious school refusal

- children. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 38, 916-922.
- Mash, E. J., & Wolfe, D. A. (2002). *Abnormal child psychology* (2nd ed.). Belmont: Wadsworth.
- Matorin, A. I., & McNamara, J. R. (1996). Using board games in therapy with children.

 International Journal of Play Therapy, 5, 3-16.
- Matorin, A. I., & McNamara, J. R. (1996). Using board games in therapy with children.

 International Journal of Play Therapy, 5, 3-16.
- Maughan, B., Rowe, R., Messer, J., Goodman, R., & Meltzer, H. (2004). Conduct disorder and oppositional defiant disorder in a national sample: Developmental epidemiology. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 45, 3, 609-621.
- Mireault, G., Rooney, S., Kouwenhoven, K., & Hannan, C. (2008). Oppositional behavior and anxiety in boys and girls: A cross –sectional study in two community samples. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 39, 519-527.
- Morrison, J. (1995). DSM-IV made easy: The clinician's guide to diagnosis. New York:

 The Guilford Press.
- Moustakas, C. (1959). *Psychotherapy with children: The living relationship.* New York: HarperCollins.
- Naumberg, M. (1966). Dynamically oriented art therapy: Its principles and practice.

 New York: Prune and Statton.
- Öhman, A. (1996). Preferential pre-attentive processing of threat in anxiety: Preparedness and attentional biases. In R. Rapee (Ed.), *Current controversies in the anxiety disorders* (pp. 253-290). New York: Guilford Press.

- Ollendick, T. H., King, N. J., & Chorpita, B. F. (2006). Empirically supported treatments for children and adolescents. In P. C. Kendall (Ed.) *Child and adolescent therapy:*Cognitive-behavioral procedures (pp.492-520). New York: Guilford Press.
- Ollendick, T. H., King, N. J., & Muris, P. (2002). Fears and phobias in children:

 Phenomenology, epidemiology, and aetiology. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 7, (3), 98-106.
- Packard, S. (1977). Learning disabilities: Identification and remediation through creative art activity. In R. H. Shoemaker & S. E. Gonick-Barris (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Seventh Annual Conference of the American Art Therapy Association* (pp.57-61). Baltimore: AATA.
- Perkins, S. (2007). Creating and facilitating freedom group art therapy with children with emotional and behavioural disorders. Unpublished master's thesis, Concordia University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.
- Poulsen, M. (1993). Strategies for building resilience in infants and young children at risk. *Infants and young children*, 6 (2), 29-40.
- Prokoviev, F. (1998). Adapting the art therapy group for children. In S. Skaite & V. Huet (Eds.), *Art psychotherapy groups* (pp.44-68). London: Routledge.
- Rapee, R. M. (2002). The development and modification of temperamental risk for anxiety disorders: Prevention of a lifetime of anxiety? *Biological Psychiatry*, 52, 947-957.
- Rapee, R, M., Kennedy, S., Ingram, M., Edwards, S., & Sweeney, L. (2005). Prevention and early intervention of anxiety disorders in inhibited preschool children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73, 488-497.

- Reid, S. E. (2001). The psychology of play and games. In C. E. Schaefer & S. E. Reid (Eds.), Game Play: Therapeutic use of childhood games (2nd. ed., pp.1-36). New York: Wiley.
- Rende, R. D. (1993). Longitudinal relations between temperament traits and behavioral symptoms in middle childhood. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 32, 287-290.
- Riley, S. (1999). Short-term, solution focused art-therapy treatment. In *Contemporary art* therapy with adolescents (pp.237-256). London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers Ltd.
- Rogers, N. (2001). Person-centered expressive arts therapies: A path to wholeness. In J. A. Rossi, E. L. (2002). The psychobiology of gene expression: Neuroscience and neurogenesis in hypnosis and the healing arts. New York: W. W. Norton & Company.
- Rosal, M. L. (1985). The use of art therapy to modify the locus of control and adaptive behavior of behavior disordered students. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia.
- Rosal, M. L. (1992). Approaches to art therapy with children. In F. E. Anderson (Ed.),

 Art for all the children (2nd ed., pp.142-183). Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Rosal, M. L. (1993). Comparative group art therapy research to evaluate changes in locus of control in behavior disordered children. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 20, 231-241.
- Rosal, M. L. (1996). Approaches to art therapy with children. Burlingame, CA: Abbeygate.
- Rosal, M. (2001). Cognitive-behavioral art therapy. In J. A. Rubin (Ed.), *Approaches to art therapy* (2nd. Edition, pp.210-225). New York: Brunner-Routledge.

- Ross, C. (1997). Something to draw on: Activities and interventions using an art therapy approach. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Roth, E. A. (1987). A behavioral approach to art therapy. In J. A. Rubin (Ed.),

 Approaches to art therapy (2nd. Edition, pp.213-232). New York: Brunner-Routledge.
- Rozum, A. L. (2001). Integrating the language of art into a creative cognitive-behavioral program with behavior-disordered children. In S. Riley (Ed.), *Group process made visible: Group art therapy* (pp.115-138). Philadelphia: PA: Brunner-Routledge.
- Rubin, J. A. (1984). Child art therapy: understanding and helping children grow through art (2nd. Edition). New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold Company Inc.
- Rubin, J. A. (Ed.). (2001). Approaches to art therapy: Theory and technique (2nd. Edition). New York: Brunner-Routledge.
- Schachar, R., & Wachsmuth, R. (1990). Oppositional disorder in children: A validation study comparing conduct disorder, oppositional disorder and normal control in children. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 31, 1089-1102.
- Scott, T. J. L., & Feeny, N. C. (2006). Relapse prevention techniques in the treatment of childhood anxiety disorders: A case example. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 36, 151-157.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Positive psychology, positive prevention, and positive therapy. In C. R. Snyder & S. J. Lopez (Eds.), *Handbook of positive psychology* (pp.3-9). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Seligman, M. E. P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. *American Psychologist*, 55, 5-14.

- Silverman, W. K., Kurtines, W. M., Ginsburg, G. S., Weems, D. F., Ravian, B., & Serafini, L. T. (1999). Treating anxiety disorders in children with group cognitive-behavioral therapy: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67, 995-1003.
- Skaife, S., & Huet, V. (Eds.). (1998). Art psychotherapy groups. New York: Routledge.
- Slavson, S. (1944). Some elements in activity group therapy. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 14, 578-588.
- Southam-Gerow, M. A., & Kendall, P. C. (2000). A preliminary study of the emotion understanding of youths referred for treatment of anxiety disorders. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 29, 319-327.
- Spence, S. H., Rapee, R. M., McDonald, C., & Ingram, M. (2001). The structure of anxiety symptoms among preschoolers. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 39*, 1293-1316.
- Stanley, P. D. & Miller, M. M. (1993). Short-term art therapy with an adolescent male.

 The Arts in Psychotherapy, 20, 397-402.
- Steiner, H. (Ed.). (2004). Handbook of mental health interventions with children and adolescents: An integrated approach. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Stevenson, J., Asherson, P., Hay, D., Levy, F., Swanson, J., Thapar, A., & Willcutt, E. (2005). Characterizing the ADHD phenotype for genetic studies. *Developmental Science*, 8, 115-121.
- Stormshak, E. A., Bierman, K. L., McMahon, R. J., & Lengua, L. J. (2000). Parenting practices and child disruptive behavior problems in early elementary school.

- Conduct Problems Prevention Research Group. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 29,* 1, 17-29.
- Sugar, M. (1993). Research in child and adolescent group therapy. Journal of Child and Adolescent Group Therapy, 3, 207-226.
- Suveg, C. & Zeman, J. (2004). Emotion regulation in children with anxiety disorders.

 *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, 33, 750-759.
- Swank, J. M. (2008). The use of games: A therapeutic tool with children and families.

 International Journal of Play Therapy, 17, 2, 154-167.
- Sweeney, D. S., & Homeyer, L. E. (Eds.). (1999). The handbook of group play therapy: How to do it, how it works, whom it's best for. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Tibbetts, T. J. & Stone, B. (1990). Short-term art therapy with seriously emotionally disturbed adolescents. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, 17, 139-146.
- Toth, S. L., & Cicchetti, D. (1999). Developmental psychopathology and child psychotherapy. In S. W. Russ & T. H. Ollendick (Eds.), *Handbook of psychotherapies with children and families* (pp.15-44). New York: Kluwer.
- Van der Kolk, B. A. (2002). Assessment and treatment of complex PTSD. In R. Yehuda (Ed.), Treating trauma survivors with PTSD (pp. 127-156). Washington, DC:

 American Psychiatric Press.
- Vasey, M. W. (1993). Development and cognition in childhood anxiety: The example of worry. In T. H. Ollendick, & J. R. Prinz (Eds.), Advances in clinical child psychology, vol. 15 (pp. 1-39). New York: Plenum Press.
- Vasey, M. W., McLeod, C. (2001). Information-processing factors in childhood anxiety:

 A review and developmental perspective. In M. W. Vasey & M. R. Dadds (Eds.),

- The developmental psychopathology of anxiety (pp.253-277). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wadeson, H. (2001). An eclectic approach to art therapy. In J. A. Rubin (Ed.),

 Approaches to art therapy: Theory and technique (2nd edition pp.306-317). New

 York: Brunner-Routledge.
- Waters, E., & Sroufe, L. A. (1983). Social competence as developmental construct.

 Developmental Review, 3, 79-97.
- Webster-Stratton, C. S. (1997). The parents and children videotape series: Programs 1-4. Seattle, WA: C.S. Webster-Stratton.
- Webster-Stratton, C. S, Reid, M. J., & Hammond, M. (2001). Preventing conduct problems, promoting social competence: A parent and teacher training partnership in Head Start. Journal of Community Psychology, 30, 3, 283-302.
- Weiss, B., Süsser, K., & Catron, T. (1998). Common and specific features of childhood psychopathology. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107, 118-127.
- Weitmann, D. (2006). Internalizing and externalizing symptoms among children with oppositional defiant disorder, conduct disorder, or depression. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Pace University-New York.
- White, J. L, Moffitt, T. E., Robins, L. N., Earls, F., & Silva, P. A. (1990). How early can we tell? Predictors of childhood conduct disorder and adolescent delinquency. *Criminology*, 28, 507-533.
- Williams, S. (1976). Short-term art therapy. American Journal of Art Therapy, 15, 35-41.

- Wittchen, H. U., & Jacobi, F. (2005). Size and burden of mental disorders in Europe- A critical review and appraisal of 27 studies. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 15, 337-376.
- Wolf, R. (1973). Art therapy in the elementary school setting. *American Journal of Art Therapy*, 1, 1-20.
- Wood, J.J., Piacentini, J. C., Southam-Gerow, M., Chu, B. C., & Sigman, M. (2006).

 Family cognitive-behavioral therapy for child anxiety disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 45, 314-321.
- Worrall, L., & Jerry, P. (2007). Resiliency and its relationship to art therapy. *The Canadian Art Therapy Association Journal*, 20, (2), 35-53.
- Yates, T. M., & Masten, A. S. (2004). Fostering the future: Resilience theory and the practice of positive psychology. In A. P. Linley, & S. Joseph, (Eds.), *Positive psychology in practice*, (pp.521-539). Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wilsey & Sons.

Appendix

List of specific art activities that promote problem-solving skills

List of specific art activities that promote problem-solving skills

The following activities were inspired by strategies encountered through numerous readings in CBT as well as in art therapy. Some suggestions are also included based on my attempt to juxtapose CBT techniques into art activities that might encourage identification of negative self-talk and distorted thinking and secondly, activities that provide alternative ways of viewing, experiencing and thus behaving. Inspired by Rosal's (2001) listing of targeted CBT goals and the associated art therapy adaptation (p.216), the following art activities will be briefly introduced along with the desired objective and reference.

- Goal: relaxation, decreased impulsivity and increased concentration.
 Activity: mandala drawings; ready made maze puzzles and labyrinths to be solved.
 - References: Henley (1998); Smitheman-Brown & Church (1996); Rosal (1993).
- Goal: identify positive versus negative characteristics of one's self.

 Activity: "Self-concept circle". Participants are asked to fill in two large circles on separate sheets. One circle will contain images or words that represent positive characteristics, the other will contain the negative characteristics. Images can include collage, drawings and words linked to emotions (a large poster containing a list of emotions would facilitate selection and identification for younger children). A group discussion could follow the activity. A subsequent session could include merging the two circles onto one large sheet in order to promote integration of both sides of one's personality.

References: Knaus (1974); Bernard (1990).

3) Goal: identify and rank the intensity of negative emotions.

Activity: participants are handed a large pre-drawn image of a thermometer and asked to think about events that make them mad, anxious or sad. The activity would consist of ranking events or situations from least intense to most intense along the thermometer scale. Variations could be based on the image of a volcano as opposed to a thermometer.

References: the "catastrophe scale" Bernard (1990): "the volcano"

References: the "catastrophe scale", Bernard (1990); "the volcano", worksheet # 14 (Geldard & Geldard, 1997, p.191).

4) Goal: encourage group collaboration and social interaction.

Activity: Happyland / Nastyland. Participants are asked to create a large mural of two worlds. One team would work on representing "Happyland", that is, where positive interactions happen; the other would work on "Nastyland" where children get into trouble and out of hand. The activity could include time to review the representations of scenarios; for instance, one session could be devoted to finding ways of solving some of the problems of "Nastyland" as well as another session could be devoted to exploring the components of "Happyland" and the events take place there. Media could include collage items such as pictures of children and people, markers and oil pastels. A variation based on a popular theme such as spaceships and aliens could also be used, thus creating representations of "Planet Mean" as opposed to "Planet Nice".

References: the idea is based on several readings which encourage group work (Henley, 1998) as well as on themes suggested by McMahon (1992).

5) Goal: increase positive self-talk and self-control.

Activity: each participant is asked to create an amulet or symbolic character and think about a positive characteristic and/or motto that can help them in times of need. By symbolically investing this quality in their amulet, they would be able to have a tangible reminder of positive attributes they can count on in times of anxiety or distress.

References: inspired by Hudson et al.'s (2001) strategy consisting of relying on a symbolic toy to assist during therapy sessions.

6) Goal: create a self- reward system.

Activity: each participant is asked to prepare a scrapbook that will be used between sessions to monitor good behavior. Collage, drawings, and stamps could be used to fill in pages. The idea would be to provide continuation between sessions similar to "homework", but with the intended goal of having the child self-monitor when he/she has used positive self talk or has used a more adaptive strategy in the course of the week. An interesting possibility would be to ask each participant to create a simple signature cartoon character (such as a happy face) and use it in a grid-like sheet as a visual reminder when he/she has used a positive strategy during the week. A small reward should be given when a predetermined section of the grid has been completed.

References: based on the inclusion of "homework" in CBT interventions and the concept of self-rewards to monitor gains and progress (Albano & Kendall, 2002; Geldard & Geldard, 1997; Hudson et al. 2001; Kendall, 1994).

7) **Goal:** increase feelings of self-control.

Activity: "Shield activity". Each participant is handed a large cardboard cut-out of a shield and asked to decorate it with images and words. The intention would be to represent positive attributes and increase the feeling of competency and capacity to ward off negative self-talk. Participants could be asked to think of mottos or positive qualities to be represented on the shield.

References: Geldard and Geldard's worksheet #27 (1997, p.204)

8) Goal: increase feelings of competence

Activity: "Superhero me". Each child is invited to represent an image or a three-dimensional figure that is a "stronger" version of themselves. By thinking of positive attributes they would like to have or strengthen, participants would be allowed to create a symbolic representation of a character that would be capable of making better choices and avoid negative consequences linked to disruptive behavior.

Reference: inspired by fellow students who have used this strategy in the course of their practicum.

9) Goal: problem-solving.

Activity: "Trouble". Each participant would be asked to represent an image or a cartoon of a real-life situation in which they had difficulty managing their behavior and made poor choices. Participants would be asked to think about the sequence of events that lead them to bad behavior. The second step of the process would be to represent the same scenario while introducing more adaptive behavior. An interesting option would be to ask each participant to introduce their version of their "Superhero me" and represent what that character would have chosen to do in a similar situation.

References: Henley (1998, p.5); Packard (1977); Rosal (1985, 1992, 1993, 1996).

10) Goal: distinguish good behavior as opposed to maladaptive behavior.

Activity: each participant is invited to create a story by using photocopied cartoon-like images depicting actions that could be assembled to create a storyboard. Participants would choose how to string the images in order to produce a representation of choices leading to negative outcomes, and secondly, use the same images to create positive outcomes.

References: (Rosal, 2001).